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  CHAIRMAN DECKER 1 

  Good afternoon.  Sorry, we're a few 2 

minutes late.  I'm Tad Decker.  I'm Chairman of the 3 

Gaming Control Board.  Before entering these 4 

proceedings, I want to call to everyone's attention 5 

both the code of conduct and media guidelines for this 6 

licensing hearing.  If you did not already pick up a 7 

copy, both are available on the table just outside the 8 

auditorium doors.  The rules in the documents will be 9 

enforced.   10 

  The Board expects and it is my 11 

responsibility to ensure that the courtesy prevails 12 

among the audience, presenters and speakers.  13 

Therefore, audience outbursts, including applause are 14 

not permitted, and I would respectfully ask your 15 

assistance in complying with that essential courtesy. 16 

Vocal expressions from the audience complicate the 17 

Board's task.  If we determine that this hearing is 18 

being disrupted, I'll call a recess and upon 19 

restoration of order, resume the hearing.  Persons who 20 

refuse to acknowledge and respect the authority of the 21 

Board may be asked to leave the room and the area.   22 

  We also welcome members of the media to 23 

this hearing and ask that they observe the guidelines 24 

distributed when they came in.  In general we ask that 25 
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the media follow the same protocol that applies in any 1 

formal court proceeding.  In particular, we ask that 2 

reporters and photographers not interfere with the 3 

hearing in any way and that they conduct interviews 4 

with speakers outside the hearing room.  Finally, I 5 

want to remind the media that the Board will not be 6 

available for interviews during or after these 7 

hearings.   8 

  Prior to today the Board has conducted 9 

hearings for slot machine licenses to be issued in a 10 

Category 1, conditional Category 1 slot machine 11 

licenses, which are designated solely for horse racing 12 

facilities and for a Category 3 slot machine license, 13 

which is designated for a well established resort, 14 

hotel facility.  Again, let me read it.  Well 15 

established resort hotel facility. 16 

  Today we begin a new phase of the 17 

licensing process.  The Pennsylvania Race Horse 18 

Development and Gaming Act, otherwise known as Act 71, 19 

provides the authorization for five slot machine 20 

gaming licenses referred to as Category 2 licenses to 21 

be granted geographically as follows.  Two in the City 22 

of Philadelphia, one in the City of Pittsburgh and two 23 

facilities in revenue or tourism enhanced locations 24 

elsewhere in Pennsylvania.  The authority for these 25 
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slot machine licenses is Section 1304 of the 1 

Pennsylvania Race Horse Development and Gaming Act.   2 

  This afternoon we are beginning the 3 

process for Philadelphia Applicants.  There are five 4 

Applicants for the two licenses.  In this way these 5 

hearings and the Board's tasks are somewhat different 6 

than in the earlier hearings where there was no 7 

competition among Applicants for limited number of 8 

licenses.  Because of the competitive factor, the five 9 

Applicants will not only have to satisfy the Board 10 

that they are eligible and suitable for a Category 2 11 

license, but they will also have to satisfy the Board 12 

that they are one of the two best Applicants in the 13 

Board's view. 14 

  In order to demonstrate their suitability 15 

the Applicants each have been provided the opportunity 16 

to choose whether they want to compare themselves to 17 

other Applicants with the same subcategory in an 18 

effort to demonstrate that they are a better choice 19 

for a license than another Applicant.  If the 20 

Applicant has chosen to compare themselves, they have 21 

been required to specifically designate the area for 22 

comparison and provide notice to the other Applicant 23 

or Applicants.  The Applicants are limited in their 24 

comparison to that subject that they have designated 25 
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for comparison and are prohibited from going beyond 1 

that matter. 2 

  I understand that there have been 3 

designations of comparative information filed by 4 

Riverwalk and Keystone Development Applicants and a 5 

stipulation concerning the scope of Keystone's 6 

Comparison has been entered by all Applicants and is 7 

part of the record in these proceedings.   8 

  The Board will be conducting separate 9 

hearings for all five Applicants, will consider and 10 

evaluate all five Applicants and then will have the 11 

task of exercising its discretionary authority to 12 

select the two Applicants which the Board believes 13 

will best serve the Commonwealth's and the public's 14 

interest as outlined in the Act. 15 

  The application process for each of the 16 

Applicants has undergone an extensive review by staff 17 

for over ten months.  The purpose of these proceedings 18 

are to provide a final hearing to introduce testimony 19 

and evidence for each Applicant in this Philadelphia 20 

group to prove to the Board's satisfaction their 21 

eligibility and suitability as well as to convince the 22 

Board that the Applicant should be selected for one of 23 

the two available licenses.  In addition, these 24 

hearings will provide the opportunity to for 25 
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Applicants to answer any and all questions that the 1 

Board may have relating to the important issues.  2 

Finally, the Board staff will provide input to the 3 

Board concerning the investigation and review of the 4 

Applicants.  5 

  The public has previously had 6 

opportunities to be heard with respect to these 7 

Applicants during the public input hearings and 8 

through written comments and correspondence.  All of 9 

the public testimony and comments will be available 10 

and taken into consideration by the Board when 11 

deliberating on each Applicant.   12 

  Factors that the Board will take into 13 

consideration when reviewing these applications are 14 

defined in Section 1325 of the Act and include but are 15 

not limited to, the Applicant's development and 16 

implementation of a diversity plan, the location and 17 

quality of the proposed facility, road and transit 18 

issues, market service areas, potential for new job 19 

creation and economic development, the history and 20 

success of the Applicant in developing tourism 21 

auxiliary to gaming development, the Applicant's plan 22 

to create quality living wage jobs and full-time 23 

permanent jobs, the record of the Applicant and its 24 

developers and meeting commitments to local agencies, 25 
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community based organizations and employees in other 1 

locations and the potential adverse effects that might 2 

result from the project.  The public can be assured 3 

the Board will fully consider all factors set forth in 4 

the Act to arrive at a thorough and reasoned decision 5 

based upon all of the evidence and record before the 6 

Board.   7 

  Upon conclusion of the five hearings, 8 

which span a three-week period, the Board will take 9 

the matter of awarding the two Category licenses under 10 

advisement.  As required by the Act, a Decision by the 11 

Board will not be forthcoming of this group of 12 

Applicants until such time as the Board has had the 13 

opportunity deliberate and vote on all final licenses 14 

as were initially applied for in Categories I, II and 15 

III collectively and together.  As previously stated 16 

in other proceedings, we plan to do so before the end 17 

of the year.  18 

  The two licenses will not actually be 19 

issued; however, the licenses in Philadelphia and as 20 

well as the other licenses in Category 2, will not be 21 

issued, however, until any appeals relating to the 22 

grant or denial of the licenses are resolved and the 23 

Applicant agrees to all Board conditions of the 24 

license, pays required licensing fees and arranges 25 
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with Board staff for the opening of the facility as is 1 

currently going on in Pocono Downs.  Only upon the 2 

occurrence of these events will the selected 3 

Applicants be entitled to begin operating under a slot 4 

machine license. 5 

  We're here today for the hearing of HSP 6 

Gaming, LP, Sugarhouse and their application for a 7 

Category 2.  I call this meeting to order.  HSP 8 

Gaming, LP has filed an application for licensure as a 9 

Category 2 slot machine operator in the City of 10 

Philadelphia.  The application process for this 11 

Applicant has undergone an extensive review by staff 12 

as have all of the others.  We are providing a final 13 

opportunity for the Applicant to demonstrate to the 14 

Board's satisfaction not only that it is suitable for 15 

the license but that it should receive one of the two 16 

available licenses as well. 17 

  The procedure which we intend to follow 18 

during this hearing is as follows.  First our 19 

executive director, Anne Neeb, and Chief Counsel, 20 

Frank Donaghue, will provide an overview of the 21 

licensing and investigatory process which staff has 22 

engaged in and which has brought us to this hearing 23 

today.  The second portion of this hearing will have 24 

the Applicant's presentation, including the response 25 
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to the questions or issues which may arise during the 1 

hearing.  Finally we will receive input from the 2 

Bureau's of Licensing Investigations and Enforcement 3 

and Corporate Compliance and Internal Controls 4 

concerning the determination of those Bureaus which 5 

reviewed the application.  6 

  To start off would all the 7 

representatives of HSP Gaming, LP and of the Board who 8 

may present testimony stand to be sworn in, please. 9 

Court reporter, would you please do that.  10 

------------------------------------------------------ 11 

WITNESSES SWORN EN MASSE 12 

------------------------------------------------------ 13 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER 14 

  With that I'm going to ask Anne Neeb to 15 

address the review of the application, the process I 16 

mean.  Thank you. 17 

  MS. NEEB: 18 

  Good afternoon, Chairman Decker, members 19 

of the Board.  Today we are here to begin with the 20 

first hearing, which would be HSP Gaming, LP, also 21 

known as Sugarhouse.  This application was filed not 22 

December 28th, 2005.  Since the filing of the 23 

application a number of significant events occurred to 24 

promote the review of this Applicant for eligibility 25 
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and suitability for licensure under the Pennsylvania 1 

Race Horse Development and Gaming Act. 2 

  First, public input hearings were held in 3 

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania on April 10th, 11th and 4 

12th, 2006, during which time HSP Gaming, LP made a 5 

presentation concerning its project, including oral 6 

testimony as well as the submission of documentary 7 

exhibits.  In addition, during the course of those 8 

hearings 38 speakers presented either their support or 9 

opposition for the proposed project.  This hearing was 10 

recorded and transcribed.  11 

  Second, the Pennsylvania Gaming Control 12 

Board placed a significant amount of materials 13 

submitted by HSP Gaming, LP on its website for the 14 

public to have access to the information concerning 15 

the proposals projections and studies which have been 16 

presented to the Board.  These documents included but 17 

were not limited to a diversity plan and a local 18 

impact report, which consisted of a project 19 

description, site history, environmental impact and a 20 

traffic study. 21 

  Third, the dissemination of previously 22 

cited information permitted the Board's receipt of 23 

written submissions, both in support and opposition to 24 

the project.  A date of June 2nd, 2006 was established 25 
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for the Board to receive written submissions.  The 1 

written submissions specific to this Applicant 2 

received by the cut-off date encompassed 22 3 

submissions.  Seven were in support of the application 4 

and 15 were in opposition to the application.   5 

  In addition the Bureau of Licensing, the 6 

Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement and the Bureau 7 

of Corporate Compliance have undertaken a review of 8 

the application consistent with mandates of the Act.  9 

The result of this licensing and investigative phase 10 

of this application process is the creation of the 11 

Suitability Report, which summarizes the findings of 12 

the Bureaus as to the Applicant's compliance with the 13 

Act's licensing eligibility and suitability 14 

requirements. 15 

  Further, in the application, HSP Gaming, 16 

LP submitted a traffic study.  The PGCB retained the 17 

firm of Edwards and Kelcey to review the study and 18 

issue a report.  Since that time the Applicant 19 

responded to the Edwards and Kelcey report and they 20 

have reviewed the response and have issued a final 21 

report to which the Applicant was, again, permitted to 22 

respond to.  The Edwards and Kelcey report and the 23 

Applicants responses thereto are all marked as an 24 

exhibit.   25 
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  Finally, the parties have entered into a 1 

stipulation regarding the procedure employed by the 2 

Bureaus of Licensing, Investigation and Enforcement 3 

and Corporate Compliance.  The culmination of this 4 

work since the end of 2005 has resulted in an 5 

evidentiary record which includes the full 6 

application, local impact statements, traffic studies, 7 

transcript of the public input hearing, the written 8 

comments presented to and received by the Board, the 9 

licensing suitability report and the stipulated 10 

testimony.  The parties have entered into a 11 

stipulation that each of these items, which have been 12 

identified and are being offered as Exhibits One 13 

through Nine are to be admitted into the record as a 14 

stipulated evidentiary record for this Board's 15 

consideration.   16 

  In addition, the transcript of these 17 

proceedings and any other evidence submitted and 18 

admitted as exhibits in connection with the 19 

Applicant's licensing hearing today would likewise 20 

become part of the record for the Board's review and 21 

consideration. 22 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER 23 

  Thank you, Anne.  In light of the 24 

stipulation regarding the evidence.  May I have a 25 
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motion to accept them into ---. 1 

  MR. MARSHALL: 2 

  Mr. Chairman, I'll move that we accept 3 

the stipulation. 4 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER 5 

  Thank you.  Second? 6 

  MR. MCCABE: 7 

  Second. 8 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER 9 

  All those in favor?  Any opposed?  And 10 

the motion carries.  Anne, is there anything else? 11 

  MS. NEEB: 12 

  These are the originals I'd like to 13 

tender to the docket clerk.  Those are the signed 14 

stipulations.  That's it.  Thank you. 15 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER 16 

  At what point do you want to have the 17 

traffic consultants?  Do you want to do that 18 

afterward?  Either way is fine.  19 

  MS. NEEB: 20 

  We do have a representative here today 21 

from Edwards and Kelcey.  And as mentioned earlier, 22 

they were retained by the Board to do a traffic study. 23 

And we'd like to have them today give a report to the 24 

Board. 25 
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  CHAIRMAN DECKER 1 

  Thank you.  Were they sworn in?  Is 2 

someone here? 3 

  MS. NEEB: 4 

  Are the representatives here from Edwards 5 

and Kelcey.   6 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER 7 

  I think they have to be sworn in if they 8 

weren't.  Can you identify yourselves, please? 9 

  MR. CUNNINGHAM: 10 

  Yes, sir.  My name is Stephen Cunningham. 11 

I'm project manager with Edwards and Kelcey. 12 

  MR. ROTH: 13 

  Joseph Roth, III, associate vice 14 

president, Edwards and Kelcey. 15 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER 16 

  Thank you. 17 

  MR. CUNNINGHAM: 18 

  Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 19 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER 20 

  They were sworn in.  So please proceed. 21 

------------------------------------------------------ 22 

STEPHEN CUNNINGHAM, HAVING BEEN PREVIOUSLY SWORN, 23 

TESTIFIED AS FOLLOWS: 24 

------------------------------------------------------ 25 
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  MR. CUNNINGHAM: 1 

  Thank you.  Edwards and Kelcey was 2 

requested go perform reviews of the traffic studies 3 

that were submitted to the Board for consideration. 4 

I'd like to point out that Edwards and Kelcey does not 5 

have any conflicts, that is no existing relationships 6 

with any of the Applicants that before the Board 7 

today.   8 

  As stated, my name is Stephen Cunningham. 9 

I'm a project manager with Edwards and Kelcey.  I am a 10 

University of Delaware graduate with a degree in civil 11 

engineering.  I have been involved in transportation 12 

systems analysis since beginning my career.  I am a 13 

licensed engineer in the State of Pennsylvania.  Jay 14 

Roth is joining me today.  Again, as he stated, he's 15 

associate vice president of Edwards and Kelcey in 16 

charge of our Trevose Pennsylvania operations.  There 17 

was two other individuals that assisted our team in 18 

preparation of these reviews.  Those being Jill Palmer 19 

and Jim Klausmyer (phonetic) out of our Indianapolis, 20 

Indiana office.  Those two folks specifically have a 21 

very diverse background in the review and preparation 22 

similar sized traffic impact studies. 23 

  What I'd like to do today is just go 24 

through a brief ten-minute overview of the traffic 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

 

17   17 

study that was submitted to the Board for 1 

consideration.  And then conclude with our findings on 2 

the suitability of that application. 3 

  Just to give a brief overview of the 4 

traffic impact study process itself, I boil it down to 5 

four steps that we can see on the screen.  The first 6 

one is analysis of the existing traffic volumes that 7 

are present on the roadway network in and around the 8 

project area.  What that allows us to do is measure 9 

the existing level of service, that is the delays that 10 

are present before any of this development is actually 11 

brought on line.  Step two is projections of new trips 12 

anticipated due to the development itself.  How many 13 

new cars are we going to see on the roadway during the 14 

peak hour as a direct result of this development that 15 

we'd be looking at.  Step three, we add those 16 

incremental trips that are anticipated to those base 17 

delays that we've seen and we re-evaluate the 18 

anticipated delays as a result of the development.  19 

Which leads us into step four, which would be 20 

development of mitigation measures.  That is what 21 

needs to be done in order to bring the traffic delays 22 

back down to pre-development levels in and around the 23 

studied area.  24 

  Speaking for Sugarhouse specifically, I'm 25 
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going to read from our November 1st, 2006 letter, the 1 

introduction.  The site development staging includes 2 

an interim casino to be constructed in 2008 with  3 

1,500 slot machines and limited auxiliary uses.  The 4 

Phase I casino is scheduled for 2009 with an 5 

additional 1,500 slots for a total of 3,000, plus 6 

restaurants, lounges, ball room and a performance 7 

venue.  The Phase II casino will include and 8 

additional 2,000 slots for a total of 5,000 gaming 9 

positions, additional restaurants and shops, a 500 10 

room hotel and a special events center.  The primary 11 

casino access points are on Delaware Avenue at 12 

Frankford Avenue and Shackamaxon Street with a 13 

secondary access located on Penn Street.  14 

  That said the consultant team that 15 

Sugarhouse has employed identified a nine intersection 16 

study area with the afternoon peak hour being the 17 

critical time period that was analyzed in the 18 

preparation of their study.  A trip generation 19 

estimate, how many new trips are anticipated during 20 

that peak hour on that roadway network around the 21 

study area.  The consultant team has estimated 1,373 22 

total new trips during that Friday afternoon peak 23 

hour.  That's both entering and exiting the facility, 24 

the total new vehicles that we anticipate to see on 25 
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the roadway as a result of this development. 1 

  They've estimated 85 percent of the 2 

patrons to arrive and depart the site via  3 

Interstate 95.  It's important to note, and it was 4 

noted in the traffic study itself that the Girard 5 

Avenue Interchange Project is something that PennDOT 6 

currently has on the books and is anticipated for 7 

completion in 2012.  The interchange is located just 8 

to the north of the Sugarhouse site and is going to 9 

allow increased access to Delaware Avenue and Girard 10 

Avenue.  What we're going to see upon completion of 11 

the Girard Avenue Interchange Project specifically is 12 

an increased serviceability of the traffic flows to 13 

and from the project area.   14 

  So they looked at the nine intersections 15 

identified in this study and they came up with several 16 

key points that need to be addressed in order to 17 

effectively mitigate the additional traffic that's 18 

anticipated as part of their development.  Number one, 19 

signal timing and coordination adjustments along 20 

Delaware Avenue and Girard Avenue.  That's simply 21 

changing the green time allocated to the different 22 

vehicular movements along the roadway.  We can get 23 

some very significant increases in serviceability of 24 

the traffic in and around the project area with some 25 
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minor timing and coordination adjustments.   1 

  They've identified two intersections 2 

where roadway widening will be required.  Those being 3 

on Delaware Avenue at Shackamaxon Street and at 4 

Frankford Avenue.  They're recommending installation 5 

of dual left turn lanes actually into their site.  6 

Again, it's going to allow additional traffic to get 7 

off of the roadway network into the site more 8 

effectively.   9 

  And the third one listed on there, 10 

traffic calming measures.  These aren't necessarily 11 

meant to decrease the delays to a pre-development 12 

level that we're looking at.  But given the way that 13 

the traffic flows are anticipated in and around the 14 

project areas, they're recommending traffic calming 15 

measures on several of the local streets around the 16 

area in order to discourage some of what I'm going to 17 

consider cut through traffic to access the casino.  18 

What we're trying to do is discourage them from using 19 

those local streets as a cut through from Girard 20 

Avenue to access Delaware Avenue itself.  So number 21 

three up there doesn't necessarily --- it's not going 22 

to bring the levels of delay that we're seeing down 23 

but it is going to positively affect those 24 

neighborhood streets.  And the recommendations that 25 
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they've made are speed humps, neighborhood roadway 1 

narrowing and bulb outs at some of the intersections 2 

on those local streets. 3 

  Finally our efforts of Edwards and 4 

Kelcey, reviewed the preliminary study that was 5 

submitted by the Sugarhouse traffic study team.  We 6 

issued a preliminary letter dated September 11th, 7 

2006.  The Applicant subsequently revised their 8 

traffic study itself and we issued final letter on 9 

that revised study dated November 1st of this year.   10 

  What was our basic finding of our 11 

submitted materials?  The biggest thing that was in 12 

our comments was that the Applicants should expand the 13 

scope of the study area itself.  Namely that all 14 

intersections between the proposed casino site and the 15 

Interstate 95 access points should be included in the 16 

study.  As we're anticipating a significant increase 17 

in traffic through the project area, it's important to 18 

ensure that we're adequately assessing the delays and 19 

making appropriate mitigation measure through these 20 

additional intersections.  The total scope is 21 

approximately five additional intersections in the 22 

interim conditions.  And I refer to interim on here as 23 

meaning before the Girard Avenue Interchange Project I 24 

spoke about earlier as completed.  Upon completion of 25 
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that interchange, due to the revised traffic patterns 1 

through the area there's two additional intersections 2 

that are going to require study during that final 3 

interchange configuration. 4 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER 5 

  Excuse me, Steve, are you talking about 6 

up towards Girard or are you talking about further 7 

south towards Center City? 8 

  MR. CUNNINGHAM: 9 

  No.  No.  It's moving North from the 10 

project site accessing 95 that way.  So it's strictly 11 

to the north. 12 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER 13 

  Thank you.  Any questions for ---?  Yes, 14 

please. 15 

  MR. MARSHALL: 16 

  Steve, as I understand the process, you 17 

do the study, you present it to the Applicant, the 18 

Applicant then responds. 19 

  MR. CUNNINGHAM: 20 

  No, the Applicant had a traffic 21 

consultant on board on their consultant team.  They 22 

prepared the traffic study, which we subsequently 23 

reviewed and issued review comments on. 24 

  MR. MARSHALL: 25 
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  Right, but then there's a letter from 1 

their consultant, Gannett Fleming. 2 

  MR. CUNNINGHAM: 3 

  That's correct. 4 

  MR. MARSHALL: 5 

  In response to ---. 6 

  MR. CUNNINGHAM: 7 

  In response to our comments. 8 

  MR. MARSHALL: 9 

  And they do say ---.  Just so I'm ---.  10 

This is way beyond my comprehension, but as I 11 

understand the letter from Susan Givens, the Applicant 12 

doesn't dispute what you said and said as a matter of 13 

fact that they would do further studies to be carried 14 

out to ensure that all other impacts are recognized 15 

and mitigated. 16 

  MR. CUNNINGHAM: 17 

  That's correct. 18 

  MR. MARSHALL: 19 

  Are you comfortable with their response? 20 

  MR. CUNNINGHAM: 21 

  As well as the planned process would move 22 

forward, should they be granted a license, the 23 

remaining issues that need to be worked out would 24 

certainly be resolved in further plan preparation. 25 
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  MR. MARSHALL: 1 

  So you have no concern that all the 2 

traffic issues can be resolved should this Applicant 3 

be given a license? 4 

  MR. CUNNINGHAM: 5 

  As I stated, that last bullet point up 6 

there is that they need to study several other 7 

intersections in the project area. 8 

  MR. MARSHALL: 9 

  Is that what they said? 10 

  MR. CUNNINGHAM: 11 

  Correct.  But what I anticipate at those 12 

additional intersections is we're not going to see any 13 

deal breakers that are going to come out of the 14 

mitigation measures that are required at these at 15 

these other intersections.   16 

  MR. MARSHALL: 17 

  And I would assume if they had a license, 18 

they would have as much incentive to ease those 19 

traffic things as we would. 20 

  MR. CUNNINGHAM: 21 

  Clearly. 22 

  MR. MARSHALL: 23 

  They want to get people; right? 24 

  MR. CUNNINGHAM: 25 
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  They want to get people to their site I 1 

would assume. 2 

  MR. MARSHALL: 3 

  Thanks. 4 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER 5 

  Thank you very much.  I appreciate that. 6 

We'll see you in I guess ---. 7 

  MR. CUNNINGHAM: 8 

  A couple hours, three hours. 9 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER 10 

  Yes.  You can now get a sandwich; right? 11 

  MR. CUNNINGHAM: 12 

  Thank you. 13 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER 14 

  Thank you again.  We are now going to 15 

hear from the Applicant. 16 

  MR. DONNELLY: 17 

  Thank you, Chairman Decker.  If it's 18 

possible we'll remain seated. 19 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER 20 

  Whatever. 21 

  MR. DONNELLY: 22 

  My name is John Donnelly.  I represent 23 

HSP Limited Partnership.  I’m happy to be here today. 24 

It is our karma to be the first Category 2 Applicant 25 
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to appear before you, as we were the first at the 1 

public input hearings.  So we, with you, tread new 2 

ground today.   3 

  We think of this as the end of the 4 

beginning as I think Churchill said.  The  5 

beginning ---. 6 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER 7 

  So do we. 8 

  MR. DONNELLY: 9 

  The beginning started in earnest for us 10 

on December 28th when we filed 27 boxes and by our 11 

guesstimate a ton of paper with the Gaming Board.  12 

Since then I’m fairly certain that we filed another 13 

ton of paper before this Board.  Today we're at the 14 

culmination of that first phase and we want to present 15 

to you why we think you should choose the Sugarhouse 16 

as the Category 2 casino for Philadelphia. 17 

  I stop here because in filing this ton of 18 

paper or half ton of paper originally, a ton now, I 19 

wanted to acknowledge your staff.  I look over at 20 

Anne.  I'm going to miss people but Anne, Frank Mozell 21 

(phonetic), Dale over there, Doug and Don Shiffer have 22 

always been available for me and others on our team to 23 

talk.  I'll tell you sincerely, we called at 7:30 at 24 

night and someone is there.  I've been in the offices 25 
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that late, walking in and they're there.  I get calls 1 

from Shiffer Sunday morning on my cell phone asking 2 

for some information on the Linda Lloyd letters.  So 3 

they've done yeomen work, your staff, and it's been 4 

very tough for them.  So my hat's off to them on that. 5 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER 6 

  Thank you. 7 

  MR. DONNELLY: 8 

  Recognizing all that work and knowing ---9 

and Dale has schooled us in what you know up here to 10 

and how much work you put into that.  We will be as 11 

brief as a bunch of lawyers can be today.  We're 12 

confident at the end of this process you find that we 13 

are more than eligible for the Category 2 license.  14 

That the Applicant and all of our affiliates and the 15 

human beings associated with the Sugarhouse are 16 

suitable and that our application and our plans and 17 

our intentions more than satisfy the section 1325 18 

criteria that you have to wrestle with.  And we're 19 

confident that after that review you will find that we 20 

are the first license that should be granted in 21 

Philadelphia for a Category 2 casino.   22 

  Following the karma theme, yesterday the 23 

Bears and Eagles won.  And with that, I'm going to 24 

turn it over to Neil Bluhm, who is the chairman of 25 
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HSP, who leads our Chicago contingent. 1 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 2 

  I'm glad you didn't think you had to 3 

mention the Steelers. 4 

  MR. DONNELLY: 5 

  They won, too. 6 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 7 

  But we don’t care about the Steelers. 8 

------------------------------------------------------ 9 

NEIL BLUHM, HAVING BEEN PREVIOUSLY SWORN, TESTIFIED AS 10 

FOLLOWS: 11 

------------------------------------------------------  12 

  MR. BLUHM: 13 

  Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman and members 14 

of the Pennsylvania Gaming Control Board.  I’m Neil 15 

Bluhm.  Thanks for the opportunity to address you 16 

again.  As John mentioned, I'm chairman of HSP Gaming 17 

and we want to develop the Sugarhouse Casino at the 18 

Jack Frost Sugar refinery site on the Delaware River 19 

just north of the Ben Franklin Bridge. 20 

  I want to thank the Board and staff also 21 

for the tremendous amount of time and effort you've 22 

all put in over the last several months.  We're 23 

extremely excited about the opportunity to develop and 24 

operate the Sugarhouse Casino.  My partner, Greg 25 
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Carlin, on my right, and I have put together a highly 1 

qualified and experienced team to develop, plan and 2 

operate this casino.  Our team has been doing a lot of 3 

work.  And we've made great strides and progress since 4 

we last appeared before you in April.   5 

  When we were first introduced to this 6 

opportunity for a Philadelphia casino it occurred when 7 

Greg had discussions with Dan Keating, a leading 8 

Philadelphia developer and general contractor who has 9 

built 20 casinos.  Greg was familiar with Philadelphia 10 

from his college days at the University of 11 

Pennsylvania.  We knew Dan earlier because we had 12 

explored investing in Dan's Hyatt Regency Hotel at 13 

Penn's Landing which Dan had developed.  Dan Keating 14 

then led us to Richard Sprague and Robert Potamkin, 15 

who are two Philadelphia natives who need no 16 

introduction. The three of them had for some time been 17 

scouting different potential sites and interviewing 18 

potential partners with casino experience who they 19 

would feel comfortable with.   20 

  When we first met the chemistry was 21 

instantaneous.  We liked them and they liked us.  We 22 

took them up to Niagara Falls to see our casino 23 

development there.  They were excited about what we 24 

had accomplished and we agreed to form a venture to 25 
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develop a casino in Philadelphia.  Through Robert and 1 

Dick we met and joined up with the rest of our 2 

partners, being Jerry Johnson, a respected business 3 

executive and chairman of the Radnor Trust.  And Bill 4 

Lamb, an attorney and former justice of the Supreme 5 

Court of Pennsylvania.  As well as Barbara Sprague and 6 

Tom Sprague.  I'd ask our partners to all stand up so 7 

you can see who they are.   8 

  They've been great partners and very 9 

instrumental throughout the process.  They know 10 

Philadelphia.  They have absolutely impeccable 11 

reputations and character.  And they have all been 12 

successful in their careers and in their personal 13 

lives and have contributed greatly to the communities 14 

where they reside.  Their character traits are very 15 

important because it's difficult to do a project like 16 

this without people who understand the community in 17 

which you are developing and were able to pass the 18 

tough regulatory scrutiny.  The Philadelphia group has 19 

all of that. 20 

  Greg and I brought the table our 21 

experience in casino development and the development 22 

of world class hotels, retail, office and mixed use 23 

properties like the Four Seasons Hotel and the Logan 24 

Square office buildings here in Philadelphia.  We also 25 
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have expertise in successfully managing large casinos 1 

and in financing major projects.  We are accustomed to 2 

public private partnerships, as I am a partner in 3 

Xanterra Parks and Resorts, the largest operator of 4 

hotels, restaurants and concessions for the national 5 

parks under long term contracts with the United States 6 

Department of Interior.  For example, we operate the 7 

facilities at Grand Canyon and Yellowstone.  8 

  When we first began considering 9 

developing a casino in Philadelphia we gave a great 10 

deal of thought to how we could successfully meet the 11 

goals of the Commonwealth.  We have approached this 12 

task with humility and great deal of reflection.  We 13 

constantly asked ourselves how we could best meet the 14 

Commonwealth's goals.  The answer to that question 15 

starts with an understanding of why it is that the 16 

Commonwealth and the City of Philadelphia invited this 17 

new industry to its border.  The obvious comes first. 18 

The Commonwealth and most Philadelphians, and of 19 

course our Sugarhouse group, want to see a fabulously 20 

successful project that will generate jobs, revenue, 21 

economic development, increase tourism and all the 22 

other spin-offs that a first class casino development 23 

can bring. 24 

  But we understand there is much more to 25 
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this.  We realize that success is more than just 1 

economics.  It means a project and a development that 2 

adds to the city and its surrounding environment and 3 

is a sustaining positive gain for the community.  We 4 

also recognize that the development of a large casino 5 

entertainment complex in a urban setting carries with 6 

it some challenges.  There are traffic and 7 

environmental issues to overcome.  There are also 8 

social problems associated with the development 9 

generally and casino gaming particularly.  It is our 10 

job to address those issues.  And to the extent they 11 

cannot be eliminated, mitigate them.   12 

  Finally we recognize that none of this 13 

will work unless we're committed to bringing everybody 14 

to the party.  We recognize our social responsibility 15 

to make certain that all facets of this vast and 16 

diverse community have an opportunity to participate 17 

in the success of the Sugarhouse.  Without this we 18 

know it won't be a success by our standards or your 19 

standards.  Above all the development and ongoing 20 

operations must be done with complete integrity.  No 21 

one on our team will tolerate cutting corners or 22 

violating the trust that we ask you to put in us.   23 

  We've already begun the process to ensure 24 

that there is an open opportunity for all to 25 
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participate in our project.  Greg and I have  1 

personally hosted a job forum in Fishtown and a vendor 2 

forum at Dan's hotel at Penns landing.  We and our 3 

Philadelphia partners have met on numerous occasions 4 

with our neighbors and their representatives as well 5 

as Philadelphia city planners and professionals.  6 

  We have a strong diversity plan in 7 

operation and have already identified women and 8 

minority business enterprises that we have already 9 

entered into contracts with and will do more in the 10 

future.   You will here more about our accomplishments 11 

to date later today.  Finally, we will address those 12 

social issues such as problem and underage gambling 13 

and focus on mitigating these concerns.   14 

  In order to have a successful, great real 15 

estate project, you have to start out with a great 16 

site.  We and our partners looked at more than 11 17 

sites over a year long period.  We considered other 18 

sites that other applicants chose.  In the end we 19 

particularly liked and ultimately chose the Jack Frost 20 

Sugarhouse site because it has the right combination 21 

of factors.  Sufficient size, 22 acres.  The views to 22 

and from the river and the bridge.  The proximity to 23 

Center City and Penns Landing and other attractions. 24 

Our site has buffers to the neighborhood,  the absence 25 
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of environmental problems and minimal traffic impact. 1 

We are not too close to the existing traffic problems 2 

but close enough to the growing entertainment and new 3 

development activities on Delaware Avenue.  4 

  Philadelphia is a great city with a 5 

wonderful waterfront on Delaware Avenue.  But frankly 6 

the waterfront has been underdeveloped.  Our site 7 

provides us with the opportunity to develop a great 8 

mixed use project on the waterfront, which will 9 

further the redevelopment of the area and will enhance 10 

the quality of life for the city and surrounding areas 11 

while also greatly increasing tourism.  Our 12 

development will be a catalyst for further development 13 

along Delaware Avenue.   14 

  With a great site we needed a great 15 

design and plan.  So we sought out Ian Cope, the 16 

highly regarded and respected Philadelphia architect 17 

whose firm designed Borgata in Atlantic City, the best 18 

and most successful casino in Atlantic City.  Ian was 19 

the executive architect for the Borgata project.  For 20 

a variety of reasons we love the Borgata experience.  21 

The Borgata has the sense of arrival that we will 22 

create at Sugarhouse.  As you enter the Sugarhouse 23 

property, you will have entered a lush fantasy place 24 

different from the rest of the world.  Our plans 25 
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include a sophisticated and romantic waterfront design 1 

to follow the upstate urban nightlife experience.  2 

Another feature of Borgata which Ian has also designed 3 

for Sugarhouse is the way traffic is handled.  The 4 

ability to stack all the vehicles on the property.  5 

The ease of entrance and exit, the separation of 6 

valet, self park and commercial vehicles is ideal and 7 

we think vital in an urban drive-in setting.  Ian will 8 

show you later today our plans for Sugarhouse.   9 

  We have an outstanding team in place to 10 

execute our plans and run the casino.  We are 11 

extremely fortunate to have Bob Sheldon join our team 12 

as president and chief operating officer who will be 13 

responsible for the day to day operations and 14 

management of the Sugarhouse Casino.  We brought Bob 15 

in from Foxwoods where he had run the operations in 16 

Connecticut as their chief operating officer.  Prior 17 

to that he spent several years with the Wynn 18 

organization.  Greg Carlin will give you more details 19 

about Bob's vast experience and Bob will talk to you 20 

about the other outstanding members of our management 21 

team.  22 

  We are also fortunate to have Larry Lewin 23 

join us a consultant.  Greg Carlin and I worked 24 

closely with Larry who worked not the development and 25 
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then opened and headed the operations of the Fallsview 1 

Casino in Niagara Falls until he left a little over a 2 

year ago.  Of course our company continues to manage 3 

this casino and another one in Niagara Falls.   4 

  As you will recall, Greg and I formed a 5 

partnership, Falls Management Company, to submit a 6 

proposal much like this process to develop a casino 7 

and hotel project in Niagara Falls, Canada.  We 8 

competed with four groups and we were selected by the 9 

Ontario Lottery and Gaming Corporation.  I am Chairman 10 

of the Board and Greg is also on the Board and a 11 

member of the executive and compliance committee of 12 

our company, Falls Management Company.   13 

  It's interesting that the Niagara 14 

Fallsview Casino has many similarities to the 15 

Sugarhouse project.  It's on a similar sized site of 16 

about 23 acres.  It's near the water.  It has 3,000 17 

slot machines and 150 table games.  Niagara Falls is 18 

near Buffalo, New York and Toronto, markets that it 19 

serves that are both urban and driven by tourism.  We 20 

would like to show you a short video about the 21 

Fallsview project in Niagara Falls.  At the hearing in 22 

April we showed you some pictures of this facility.  23 

But they may not have done justice to the magnificent 24 

facility which has won numerous awards.  Also the 25 
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pictures do not convey the benefits that the Fallsview 1 

Casino has created for the community and how pleased 2 

the public officials are, both with the project and in 3 

our cooperation as well as how the residents are happy 4 

with our project.  Video, please.   5 

  I think we can build our facility faster 6 

than we can get this video up. 7 

  MR. DONNELLY: 8 

  As Bob Sheldon said, presentation 9 

wouldn't count unless there's an AV problem so.  There 10 

we go.  Stick the wires together. 11 

VIDEO PRESENTATION 12 

  VIDEO VOICEOVER: 13 

  One of North America's Top destinations. 14 

Canada's first world-class Casino resort.  This is 15 

Niagara Fallsview Casino Resort and there's nothing 16 

else like it anywhere.  Falls Management Company was 17 

selected by the Province of Ontario in 1997 to manage 18 

the existing Casino Niagara and to develop and operate 19 

a new world-class casino, Niagara Fallsview.  20 

  Fallsview opened in July 2004 on time and 21 

on budget at a cost of $1 billion Canadian and with 22 

over 2.7 million square feet of space.  Fallsview is 23 

Ontario's largest privately built commercial real 24 

estate development.  The 180,000 square foot casino 25 
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has over 3,000 slot machines and 150 table games.  As 1 

large as any casino on the Las Vegas Strip.   2 

  Fallsview has a wide variety of 3 

exceptional restaurants.  Among them is the Grand 4 

Buffet, which seats 750 people and has breathtaking 5 

views overlooking the falls.  17 Noir is Fallsview's 6 

finest restaurant with a wine spectator best of award 7 

excellence.  The Avalon Ballroom hosts the biggest 8 

names in show business.  The Galleria features top 9 

name boutiques and shops in a 200,000 square foot 10 

retail complex.  Fallsview's grand hall is 50,000 11 

square feet of state-of-the-art meeting and exhibition 12 

space.  And since one day is never enough, Fallsview 13 

has a 368-room luxury hotel.  Including 85 VIP rooms, 14 

each with its own private view of the falls.   15 

  Fallsview has recently hosted the World 16 

Poker Tour North American Poker Championship.  Earlier 17 

this year Fallsview hosted the inaugural Canadian Open 18 

Championship.  Since its opening Fallsview keeps 19 

winning one award after another.  The honors began in 20 

2004, Fallsview's first year of operation.  Fallsview 21 

won even more awards in 2005 and the honors kept 22 

coming in 2006 and the year's not over yet.  Together 23 

Casino Niagara and Fallsview's Casino and Resort make 24 

up Canada's number one tourist destination, hosting 25 
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over 10.6 million visitors and generating over $670 1 

million dollars Canadian in gaming wins in 2005.   2 

  Fallsview and Casino Niagara are more 3 

than just Canada's highest grossing casinos, they are 4 

major contributors to the local economy and 5 

significant catalyst for regional development.  Falls 6 

Management Company is the largest private employer in 7 

the region, currently employing over 5,300 full-time 8 

associates, 95 percent of whom are local residents.   9 

  Fallsview and Casino Niagara have become 10 

and integral part of the Niagara Falls community, 11 

sponsoring festivals that draw hundreds of thousands 12 

throughout the year.  Founded in 2000 with a mandate 13 

of improving the lives of Niagara residents, the Cares 14 

Foundation of Casino Niagara and Fallsview Casino 15 

Resort had donated of $4 million Canadian to local 16 

nonprofits including Niagara College and the Niagara 17 

Health System.   18 

  Wayne Thompson, former mayor of Niagara 19 

Falls, and now the chairman of Niagara Falls tourism 20 

said that Fallsview was meticulous in ensuring that 21 

every regulatory and other requirement was met and 22 

that Fallsview has brought thousands of jobs and 23 

millions of dollars to the City of Niagara Falls and 24 

served to significantly enhance the tourism industry 25 
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here.  He notes that both Fallsview and Casino Niagara 1 

have outstanding compliance records in one of the most 2 

highly regulated gaming jurisdictions in the world.   3 

  Tim Hudak, a member of Provincial 4 

Parliament and former minister responsible for gaming 5 

in the province said the properties are world class 6 

and have become leading tourist attractions.  I always 7 

found FMC to be highly responsive and cooperative when 8 

dealing with government officials.  FMC has defined 9 

itself as an active and concerned corporate citizen.  10 

  Ross Parry, former chief of staff to the 11 

Ontario Ministry of Public Infrastructure Renewal 12 

noted that both Fallsview and Casino Niagara have 13 

become the primary focal point for massive new and 14 

ongoing development in the Niagara region.   15 

  If selected by the Pennsylvania Gaming 16 

Control Board, the Sugarhouse team has the proven 17 

ability, the experience, the commitment and the 18 

passion for excellence to duplicate its success with 19 

Fallsview for both the City of Philadelphia and the 20 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. 21 

END OF VIDEO PRESENTATION 22 

  MR. BLUHM: 23 

  Thank you for your indulgence while we 24 

got the video going.  I hope you enjoyed the video 25 
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since many Philadelphians have been to Atlantic City 1 

but have not been to Niagara Falls.  We trust you now 2 

have a sense of the scope of our Fallsview development 3 

and its size and quality, which exceeds most of the 4 

Atlantic City Casinos.  We know that Atlantic City 5 

will be the main competition for the Philadelphia 6 

casino where the casino tax in Atlantic City rate is  7 

much lower than the tax rate in Pennsylvania.  We 8 

believe that now that you've seen what we've done in 9 

Niagara Falls, you will agree that we have the know 10 

how and vision to develop the Sugarhouse project in 11 

Philadelphia so that it can more than adequately 12 

compete with Atlantic City. 13 

  We have no competing facilities in 14 

Atlantic City, nor are we working on acquiring or 15 

planning the development of a major casino project in 16 

Atlantic City.  All of our resources and all of our 17 

attention will be directed in Philadelphia.  We have 18 

no conflict of interest to drive revenues to Atlantic 19 

City where an operator in Atlantic City can keep 20 

approximately 90 percent of the gaming revenues 21 

instead of Philadelphia, where you keep 50 percent. 22 

  It has been over a year of hard work by 23 

you and your staff culminating in this final hearing. 24 

We will not revisit all the information we furnished 25 
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the staff or presented to you in April.  Rather what 1 

we would like to do is highlight some of the changes 2 

since the April hearing, introduce you to some of the 3 

people who have joined onto our team and to visually 4 

present some of our design refinements.  I'd like to 5 

introduce my partner, Greg Carlin, the CEO of 6 

Sugarhouse Casino, who's been working very hard in 7 

putting together a terrific team to deliver a great 8 

project.  Greg? 9 

------------------------------------------------------ 10 

GREG CARLIN, HAVING BEEN PREVIOUSLY SWORN, TESTIFIED 11 

AS FOLLOWS: 12 

------------------------------------------------------ 13 

  MR. CARLIN: 14 

  Thank you, Neil.  Good afternoon, Mr. 15 

Chairman and Members of the Board.  I'd like to take 16 

this opportunity to update you on Sugarhouse's 17 

progress since our April public hearing. 18 

  First, we've significantly expanded our 19 

operating team by hiring Bob Sheldon as president and 20 

chief operating officer.  If we are awarded a Category 21 

2 license, he will be responsible for all day-to-day 22 

operations at the facility including casino, food and 23 

beverage, entertainment and marketing.  He has over 25 24 

years of experience in the gaming and hospitality 25 
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industries, and we're very fortunate to have him on 1 

our team.  For the past six years, he was a chief 2 

operating officer at Foxwood's Resort and Casino in 3 

Connecticut, and prior to that, he served as president 4 

of the Golden Nuggets --- Golden Nugget Casino in Las 5 

Vegas working for Steve Wynn for 11 years.  Bob has 6 

also held executive positions at the Las Vegas Hilton 7 

and the Reno Hilton and was the resident manager at 8 

both the Beverly Hilton Hotel and the Waldorf Astoria 9 

in New York City. 10 

  Bob will tell you about the rest of our 11 

highly experienced operating team, but I want to 12 

mention how excited I am to have Larry Lewin working 13 

on this project with us.  I've known Larry for almost 14 

10 years, and he's worked very closely with Neil and I 15 

on the Fallsview Casino Resort.  Casino openings are 16 

very complicated undertakings, and Larry is a talented 17 

gaming industry veteran. 18 

  Second, we've greatly improved the 19 

Sugarhouse development plans.  Designing a mixed use 20 

facility like the Sugarhouse Casino is a highly 21 

iterative process, and our entire development team has 22 

been very business since April making improvements to 23 

the design.  I don't want to steal Ian Cope's thunder, 24 

but as you can see by looking at our new model, our 25 
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design has significantly evolved for the better.  1 

Those changes include a much improved interim plan. 2 

Instead of a temporary structure that we talked about 3 

in April, we're actually building the core of our 4 

permanent facility with 1,500 slot machines to be open 5 

within 12 months of licensing. 6 

  We also have modified the roadway 7 

configuration in the front of the facility.  We've 8 

moved the entrance --- we've moved the podium closer 9 

to Delaware Avenue making a much better connection to 10 

the street, and we've also greatly expanded the public 11 

space along the river making it larger and more 12 

accessible to area residents and visitors alike. 13 

  Third, we've completed a more 14 

comprehensive traffic study, which has been submitted 15 

to the Board and reviewed by the Board's consultant.  16 

One important fact that we learned at all of our 17 

community meetings is that traffic is probably the 18 

biggest concern for residents in the surrounding 19 

neighborhood.  After our community meetings last March 20 

and April, we recognized the need to expand our 21 

traffic study, and we engaged Dennis Finnegan at Urban 22 

Systems to work with Gannett Fleming on augmenting our 23 

traffic --- our original study.  Urban Systems 24 

completed the traffic study for the Philadelphia 25 
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Gaming Advisory Task Force Report, and Dennis and 1 

Urban are recognized industry experts on casino 2 

traffic analysis. 3 

  We really have the same interest as the 4 

local community to minimize traffic for both our 5 

customers and local residents, and we're very 6 

confident that by implementing some basic traffic 7 

mitigation measures that the level of service on area 8 

streets will not be compromised.  We heard the 9 

comments of Edwards and Kelcey earlier, and we will 10 

follow their recommendation to expand the scope of our 11 

intersection studies in the local area.  Bob 12 

Henderson, who's a member of our development team, is 13 

here and will address the Board about our updated 14 

traffic study later today. 15 

  Fourth, we've continued with our 16 

community outreach efforts, and later in the 17 

presentation, I will update the Board on our recent 18 

activities including the successful job forum and the 19 

vendor forum that we held in October. 20 

  Fifth, we've updated both our financial 21 

projections and our project budget.  For our original 22 

submission in December, Saul F. Leonard Company and 23 

PKF Consulting prepared a gaming market assessment and 24 

a projected income statement for the proposed 25 
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facility.  While we have full confidence in our 1 

original projections, when Bob and Larry joined our 2 

team, we developed a more conservative set of revenue 3 

projections for the purpose of structuring our 4 

financing.  The primary difference between the two 5 

sets of projections is a lower assumed win per visitor 6 

in the updated study. 7 

  On Friday, we received a copy of the 8 

Financial Suitability Task Force Drive Time Analysis 9 

for the Sugarhouse Casino.  When standardizing the 10 

three sets of projections for a stabilized year, where 11 

both Philadelphia area casinos have 3,000 slot 12 

machines, our conservative slot revenue projections 13 

are actually eight percent lower than the task force's 14 

estimates, and our original projections are six 15 

percent higher than those projections.  We're very 16 

comfortable with this range.  Peter Tyson from PKF 17 

Consulting and a Philadelphia area native is here to 18 

address the Board regarding the methodology he used in 19 

preparing our original market assessment.  Peter's a 20 

recognized expert in the field, and he's been 21 

preparing gaming market assessments for over 30 years. 22 

  It's also been one year since we 23 

completed our original project budget for the 24 

Sugarhouse Facility.  Because of rising construction 25 
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costs and an increased project scope, we instructed 1 

our development team to update our project budget.  2 

Our current total project budget has increased to 3 

approximately $550 million versus our original project 4 

budget of $450 million. 5 

  Lastly, we've obtained a firm financing 6 

commitment for the Sugarhouse Casino.  In our original 7 

submission to the Board, we included highly confident 8 

letters from four leading financial institutions.  9 

Last week, we executed a firm financing commitment 10 

with Merle Lynch and Company for up to $445 million of 11 

debt financing.  That debt, together with our equity 12 

commitment, will provide HSP with all the capital 13 

needed to build our full Phase I facility.  Steve Park 14 

from Merle Lynch will address the Board later in our 15 

presentation about their commitment. 16 

  Next, I'd like to introduce Bob Sheldon 17 

who will tell you about our expanding team and tell 18 

you some of our operating philosophies.  Bob? 19 

------------------------------------------------------ 20 

ROBERT SHELDON, HAVING BEEN PREVIOUSLY SWORN, 21 

TESTIFIED AS FOLLOWS: 22 

------------------------------------------------------ 23 

  MR. SHELDON: 24 

  Good afternoon, Chairman Decker and 25 
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Members of the Board.  And thank you, Greg, for that 1 

nice introduction. 2 

  Let me add to that how delighted I am to 3 

be returning to the Philadelphia area, which is where 4 

I grew up, and I'm very excited and it's very 5 

rewarding to me to have the opportunity to get into 6 

the gaming business here in my hometown, and I'm very 7 

excited about that. 8 

  First, I'd like to introduce the other 9 

members of our management team.  Larry Lewin, as Greg 10 

had mentioned, although Larry couldn't be with us 11 

today.  But Larry is a dedicated professional in the 12 

gaming industry with over 30 years in the business.  13 

He's an expert in gaming operations, marketing, 14 

property openings and staffing development, and until 15 

last year, Larry served as president of Niagara 16 

Casinos Falls Management.  Prior to that, he was the 17 

president and CEO of Hyatt Gaming Services, which 18 

opened and operated numerous casino resorts around the 19 

world. 20 

  Next, I'd like to introduce Debbie 21 

Marchese.  Deb, if you'd stand up.  Deb will be 22 

overseeing all of our financing IT, information 23 

technology areas, and Deb has over 25 years of gaming 24 

industry experience.  All that at the Tropicana Resort 25 
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and Casino in Atlantic City where she served for the 1 

last five plus years as their senior vice president 2 

and chief financial officer. 3 

  Next, I'd like to introduce Lisa Reilly, 4 

and again, Lisa's a 21 year veteran in the gaming 5 

industry, again all at the Tropicana.  She'll be 6 

overseeing our casino accounting and cage operations, 7 

and she has a CPA and is very qualified.  It would be 8 

great to have her on our team as well. 9 

  Next, Melonease Shaw.  Melonease has 10 

assisted us with outreach and our diversity programs 11 

in developing those as well as some training in our 12 

community relations.  She's very instrumental in 13 

helping us setup and develop our career forums and our 14 

vendor forums which were held recently.  Melonease 15 

currently in the chairperson and chief executive 16 

officer of Maven, Incorporated in the City of 17 

Philadelphia, which is a business and development and 18 

relationship management firm.  Melonease has over 30 19 

years of enterprise experience. 20 

  Joann Weber.  Joann will oversee all our 21 

human resource issues and aspects of the facility.  22 

Joann has 23 years of progressive leadership 23 

experience in the gaming industry all in human 24 

resources.  She began her career at the Clarigen 25 
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Atlantic City, spent about eight years with Carnival 1 

Hotels and Casinos around the country.  And she spent 2 

the past eight years up until just recently at 3 

Foxwood's Resort and Casino in Connecticut, where she 4 

served as their senior vice president of human 5 

resources.  Thank you. 6 

  There's three points that I'd like to 7 

cover regarding our project first off, and that's the 8 

great building, developing a great team and our place 9 

in the market.  And as a casino operator, our road to 10 

success really begins by designing and building an 11 

inviting and fun place to visit, and I'm very proud to 12 

be working with such a qualified design and 13 

development team with Dan Keating and his 14 

organization, Ian Cope and his architectural firm, and 15 

of course, Neil Bluhm and his team.  Collectively, 16 

they're really second to none, and I'm really pleased 17 

to have the opportunity to work so closely with them. 18 

And in doing so, I've had the opportunity to work with 19 

them to further refine the design and develop its 20 

components really drawing on my experiences and my 21 

understandings of customers' wants and needs in a 22 

gaming facility.  How we position the amenities is key 23 

to creating a multifaceted entertainment facility as 24 

opposed to just a slot parlor.  Our restaurant, bar 25 
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and lounge operations and our entertainment offerings 1 

are all designed to attract and satisfy the adult 2 

audience that's looking for fun, excitement and the 3 

thrill of a casino environment. 4 

  Next and just as important, we have to 5 

develop a great team.  This will be one of the 6 

cornerstones of our success.  We'll construct a great 7 

building, but by itself it's just a building, just 8 

bricks and mortars.  And it's our job to bring it to 9 

life and give it a personality.  Through my 10 

experience, I know what it takes to make a customer 11 

happy, and I found that the best key to that is a 12 

happy employee.  And I think I know what that takes to 13 

motivate a team in this industry.  We'll have an open 14 

forum --- an open and inclusive culture and with 15 

forums for two way communications with employees.  We 16 

need to hear them.  They're the ones that touch the 17 

customer each and every day, and frankly that's where 18 

we'll get our best information and feedback.  And I 19 

know the Commonwealth is committed to a diverse 20 

workplace, and I'm equally committed to that.  And I 21 

take that as my personal responsibility as I have in 22 

my other leadership roles.  We must treat our team 23 

members with respect, and just as important, teach 24 

them to respect each other.  And you'd be surprised 25 
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how important that is in creating a great service 1 

environment.  We'll develop clear service standards 2 

and couple that with intensive customer service 3 

training and support programs.  And I'm looking 4 

forward to working and partnering with the community 5 

and government agencies as we endeavor to develop new 6 

and expand existing hospitality training programs 7 

right here in the community. 8 

  I'd just like to mention, too, that our 9 

work culture will be very family friendly in that 10 

we'll encourage and support family members via our 11 

communications, our benefit programs and promotions as 12 

well as our hiring practices. 13 

  Through its Phase I operation, Sugarhouse 14 

will hire approximately 1,100 employees.  These will 15 

be quality jobs with competitive wages and most 16 

importantly great opportunities to advance, and 17 

there'll be plenty of that.  We'll have a progressive 18 

approach to benefits including flexible working 19 

arrangements and opting 401 program and creating a --- 20 

the ability to create --- tailor individual needs to 21 

the benefit programs as opposed to creating a one size 22 

fits all program.  And we'll have a commitment to 23 

building and nurturing a diverse and open work 24 

environment at all levels of the organization. 25 
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  Next, I'd like to talk about our 1 

positioning in the market.  Sugarhouse will have a 2 

very contemporary design.  It will be a pretty cool 3 

place actually.  It will have a nice retro feel to it. 4 

It will have state-of-the-art systems in all areas to 5 

create the most efficient operation and do our best to 6 

enhance the customer experience.  The design will 7 

evoke a sense of casual elegance, and it will appeal 8 

to a wide range of people and be inviting to all.  9 

From the sophisticated gamer to the casual visitor, 10 

each will have a sense of comfort and excitement.  The 11 

facility will appeal to adult taste.  In fact, we're 12 

deliberately emphasizing an environment that will not 13 

be an allure to minors.  Our primary target audiences 14 

will be compromised of three types of customers.  The 15 

gaming enthusiast, these are visitors that are 16 

motivated by gaming, and typically they'll be our most 17 

frequent customers.  The entertainment seekers, 18 

they're driven by entertainment activity such as 19 

restaurants, retail, shows or music, but are open to 20 

gaming opportunities and will take advantage of it 21 

when --- take advantage of that during their other 22 

activities.  Tourists in the area, visitors that are 23 

in the area for other reasons, staying in hotels or 24 

with family or friends, and they may be visiting the 25 
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many nearby historic sites or attending a meeting or 1 

convention, shopping excursion or perhaps a family 2 

event.  But they'll be looking for other activities to 3 

add to their itinerary and will likely visit a casino 4 

if it's available and convenient. 5 

  At Sugarhouse, we plan to engage, 6 

entertain and delight our guests and hope most of all 7 

that they have lots of fun during their visit with us. 8 

  Next, I'd like to talk about the issue of 9 

problem gambling.  I understand the potential social 10 

impacts that come along with running a gambling 11 

operation.  The issue of program gambling will be 12 

addressed at Sugarhouse very aggressively through a 13 

structured policy and training program.  And it's most 14 

important that our program be dynamic in order to 15 

address trends as they develop so we're always able to 16 

maintain best practices.  We've submitted our proposed 17 

program to the Board, but we look forward to working 18 

with your director of compulsive and program gambling 19 

enforcement, Annette Horner.  We'll have the 20 

opportunity then to continuously update and enhance 21 

our program, and again, we feel that's important at 22 

all times in maintaining the best practices. 23 

  Our program will consist of having a 24 

mandatory training program at all levels throughout 25 
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the facility.  We'll have detailed monitoring of the 1 

program and a regular review of its performance.  2 

We'll have a comprehensive self exclusion program with 3 

reporting to the Gaming Board, a strict enforcement of 4 

underage gaming laws.  And of course, we want to 5 

remain compliant with the American Gaming 6 

Association's Code of Conduct, which we hold in very 7 

high regard. 8 

  Let me say again how committed I am and 9 

that I understand the important of these programs and 10 

how important they are to our industry.  Thank you.  11 

And now, I'd like to reintroduce Greg Carlin. 12 

  MR. CARLIN: 13 

  Thank you, Bob.  Now, I'd like to update 14 

the Board about some of our recent community outreach 15 

efforts.  On October 3rd, Sugarhouse hosted a career 16 

forum in Fishtown at the Shissler Recreation Center.  17 

The forum provided an overview of available jobs in 18 

the casino industry, training programs and licensing 19 

requirements.  The panel included Joann Weber, John 20 

Donnelley, Robert Nelson of OIC, which is a leader in 21 

the job training and job development for urban 22 

citizens in Philadelphia, and Waverly Coalman 23 

(phonetic) from the Philadelphia Community College.  24 

We collected over 300 contact information sheets, and 25 
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local residents who were unable to attend the forum 1 

can also call our hotline or submit information 2 

through our website.  We've fielded over 250 calls to 3 

the hotline and have collected over 110 additional 4 

contact information sheets on the website.  The 5 

feedback from the job forum was overwhelmingly 6 

positive.  It's very clear that the community is very 7 

excited about the new jobs available as a result of 8 

legalized gaming coming to Philadelphia. 9 

  On October 4th, Sugarhouse hosted a 10 

vendor forum at the Hyatt's Penns Landing to discuss 11 

the procurement process in the casino industry and the 12 

types of opportunities that would be available for 13 

local area businesses.  The panel included myself, 14 

John Donnelley, Darlene Jenkins from the National 15 

Minority Supplier Development Council, Jerry Swift 16 

from the Women Business Development Center and Delilah 17 

Winder from the African American Chamber of Commerce. 18 

We had over 60 attendees representing a wide range of 19 

businesses, and after the panel discussion, we hosted 20 

a cocktail party so that we could meet many of the 21 

small business owners that attended. 22 

  At our April hearing, I talked to you 23 

about our diversity plan called Winning with 24 

Diversity.  We're very proud of that plan, but instead 25 
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of repeating myself, I thought it would be more useful 1 

to update you about our compliance with the plan as it 2 

relates to vendors.  To date, we've hired --- we've 3 

retained many minority and women owned business firms 4 

providing the following services; public relations, 5 

website development, promotional products, event 6 

planning, garage design and graphic design.  And we 7 

recently retained an investigation firm that 8 

participated in the vendor forum to help us with due 9 

diligence of our vendors.  We also have connected with 10 

another MWBE at the vendor forum about daycare for 11 

Sugarhouse employees. 12 

  At our hearing in April, Jerry Johnson 13 

told you about the Sugarhouse Foundation.  Jerry will 14 

be chairing that foundation.  Since April, HSP has 15 

entered into a letter agreement with the foundation to 16 

contribute two and a half percent of its pretax income 17 

to the foundation up to a maximum of $3 million per 18 

year.  At one of our community meetings, someone 19 

suggested that a special services district should be 20 

created and funded by the Philadelphia Category 2 21 

licensees.  We support this idea.  Giving back to the 22 

community is a very important ideal shared by all of 23 

the Sugarhouse partners. 24 

  Next, I'd like to introduce one of my 25 
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partners, Dan Keating.  Dan's companies will also 1 

serve as a general contractor and developer of the 2 

Sugarhouse Casino.  Dan? 3 

------------------------------------------------------ 4 

DANIEL KEATING, HAVING BEEN PREVIOUSLY SWORN, 5 

TESTIFIED AS FOLLOWS: 6 

------------------------------------------------------ 7 

  MR. KEATING: 8 

  Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman and Members 9 

of the Board.  My name is Dan Keating, and I am the 10 

chairman of Keating Building Corporation. 11 

  My firm has been involved in the 12 

construction of over 1,000 projects in this region 13 

including some 20 casino projects.  We are a 14 

Philadelphia based firm and have worked in 48 of the 15 

67 counties in Pennsylvania.  A major reason for the 16 

success of our building programs, both public and 17 

private, has been our commitment to minority and 18 

female participation.  Over the past several years, 19 

Keating has subcontracted or joint ventured over $700 20 

million of construction work.  Our minority and female 21 

participation has ranged from 25 to 65 percent of any 22 

given project.  Keating is committed to the HSP 23 

diversity plan and looks forward to maintaining this 24 

standard of excellence. 25 
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  The Board should know that HSP has 1 

already committed the design of $65 million garage 2 

structure to a minority owned designed firm.  That 3 

number represents 30 percent of the entire Phase I 4 

construction.  Mr. Chairman, we're very proud of our 5 

successes and proud to be part of this dynamic 6 

development team.  Thank you. 7 

  MR. CARLIN: 8 

  Thanks, Dan.  Next, I'd like to call Ian 9 

Cope, the mastermind behind the Sugarhouse design. 10 

------------------------------------------------------ 11 

IAN COPE, HAVING BEEN PREVIOUSLY SWORN, TESTIFIED AS 12 

FOLLOWS: 13 

------------------------------------------------------ 14 

  MR. COPE: 15 

  Thank you, Greg.  Good afternoon, Mr. 16 

Chairman and Members of the Board.  I'd like to thank 17 

you for the opportunity to appear before you again to 18 

review what we believe are fundamental and significant 19 

refinements to the Sugarhouse plan. 20 

  As Greg suggested, design is an iterative 21 

process.  And towards that end, I'd like to thank the 22 

Board and the professional technical staff for their 23 

patience as we develop the very best possible plan for 24 

the Sugarhouse and Philadelphia.  We are confident 25 
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that we have a greatly improved plan that is both 1 

suitable and appropriate to its context and believe it 2 

is important to you the Board to understand the steps 3 

we've taken to get there.  You are by know generally 4 

familiar with the site location and why we selected 5 

it, but a few key criteria bear repeating. 6 

  The site at 22.6 acres with over 12,000 7 

lineal feet frontage along north Delaware Avenue will 8 

allow the Sugarhouse to make a dramatic and immediate 9 

improvement to our waterfront district and then to 10 

permit a seamless expansion into a full service 11 

entertainment destination.  With two currently 12 

signalized intersections along our property line at 13 

Shackamaxon and at Frankford Avenue and a third 14 

signalized intersection just down the street on Penn 15 

Street, we have been able to lay out a site to easily 16 

accommodate the full range of customer traffic 17 

movements without congestion or impeding passersby. 18 

  It is also a romantic setting, a 19 

particularly bucolic bend in the river with commanding 20 

views to and from Center City, the Ben Franklin Bridge 21 

and the Camden Waterfront.  This gives the project 22 

extraordinary visibility and provides us with a 23 

terrific setting for our many restaurants and outdoor 24 

activities.  In addition, the property can be easily 25 
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seen from I-95 for easy navigation by our customers 1 

directly to the site. 2 

  We have had many meetings with community 3 

leaders and the public at large concerning the design 4 

of the Sugarhouse.  These have been very productive 5 

meetings, and we have received many positive 6 

suggestions.  We listened carefully.  We have 7 

addressed most if not all the community concerns we 8 

can and have incorporated many of their suggestions 9 

into the current physical plan.  I'll try to summarize 10 

these quickly. 11 

  You will notice --- you will notice a 12 

prior scheme in the lower left corner and the current 13 

plan a bit larger on the right.  Our old entrance was 14 

primarily geared for arrival by car with the site --- 15 

with the sole casino entrance set deep into the 16 

property.  It was not particularly pedestrian 17 

friendly.  In the new plan, however, we have located 18 

dramatic entrance pavilions at the street along North 19 

Delaware Avenue just to invite pedestrians in and 20 

those arriving by SEPTA bus lines.  These pavilions 21 

form the main vehicular arrival space.  They frame it. 22 

We have added these pavilions without compromising a 23 

very sizable area necessary to handle the off street 24 

stacking for valet arrivals and taxis and more 25 
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importantly to create a sense of arrival. 1 

  Next, we have developed a one way 2 

concealed truck tunnel below the main casino level 3 

which will allow us to safely service the facility and 4 

effectively separate truck delivery and bus traffic 5 

from our customers. 6 

  We are proposing a pervious green roof 7 

over large portions of the casino podium.  This will 8 

assist us with our storm water management program.  9 

And also, for a building of this scale from an 10 

environmental prospective, it's the right thing to do. 11 

  In the new plan, we have also added a 12 

significant amount of usable open space for the use of 13 

the neighbors, general public and our customers alike 14 

including a grand civic space or plaza that actively 15 

engages the waterfront, and you can see that in the 16 

fan shaped piece at the lower end of the slide. 17 

  Last, but not least, we sent some 18 

palpable skepticism about the very notion of a 19 

temporary casino.  These were --- there were concerns 20 

among many of the people that we spoke with that 21 

something that may have intended to be temporary might 22 

end up becoming permanent.  For this reason and some 23 

other sound economic reasons, we have elected to 24 

forego a temporary casino all together in favor of the 25 
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development of a permanent core facility, which we 1 

refer to as the interim casino phase.  Now, this is 2 

highlighted in the darker red color, and I'll address 3 

that in a little bit detail as we progress through the 4 

plans. 5 

  This image shows the footprint of a full 6 

build-out contemplated for the Sugarhouse and 7 

highlights some of the outdoor space that we are 8 

devoting to the public domain as well as the 9 

accessibility to the waterfront.  A continuous 50 foot 10 

wide landscape zone with a generous walkway and bike 11 

bath is proposed to allow the public unfettered access 12 

to the water.  To put this in some prospective, these 13 

setbacks are as wide as the typical city street 14 

including the sidewalks and the cartways and are 15 

significantly wider than those provided as Penns 16 

Landing. 17 

  Once at the river's edge, pedestrians, 18 

joggers and bikers alike will be treated to 19 

extraordinary views, quiet seating areas, sculpture 20 

gardens as had been suggested by one group, and a 21 

robust plaza which doubles as a shallow play fountain 22 

and then a season outdoor performance stage with a 23 

capacity for about 1,000 guests at evening concerts.  24 

The Sugarhouse Restaurants which open on to terraces 25 
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just slightly above that esplanade level will add 1 

vitality to the space year round.  Of course, we hope 2 

that our project will also help to revitalize the 3 

local water taxi business, and we will encourage tour 4 

boats and small pleasure craft to moor at our marina. 5 

  Over the course of the past year, there 6 

has been a great deal of discussion in the media about 7 

the so called preemption provision regarding local 8 

zoning.  I believe that an unfortunate byproduct of 9 

all of this is the sense of frustration on the part of 10 

some, perhaps many Philadelphians, that these 11 

facilities would not need to abide by good, creative 12 

and sound planning principals.  I want to ensure this 13 

Board and the public that from the onset we have been 14 

directed to plan this facility to be a very good 15 

neighbor and to be an asset to both the immediate and 16 

larger community.  We are confident that the current 17 

plan will fully comply with both the spirit and the 18 

letter of the City of Philadelphia's own planning and 19 

zoning criteria as established in the commercial 20 

entertainment or CED ordinance.  Our compliance is --- 21 

we will comply with respect to permitted uses, 22 

coverage, FAR, which is the allowable floor area, the 23 

ratio and the size of the building, setbacks and most 24 

importantly access to the waterfront. 25 
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  Related to zoning and permitted uses, I 1 

would like to touch upon one issue that I feel can be 2 

easily overlooked.  I think it's fair to say that the 3 

public has some reasonable expectation that these 4 

facilities, particularly if they're located along the 5 

public waterfront, will be more than mere slot 6 

parlors.  I think the expectation is that they will be 7 

truly mixed use facilities.  Some have referred to 8 

this trend as hybridization.  Appropriately, the 9 

city's CED ordinance seems to recognize all of this by 10 

allowing and encouraging a board range of accessory 11 

uses that go beyond merely slot machines. 12 

  On our site we certainly have ample space 13 

available to accommodate any number of additional 14 

uses.  And as a team, we carefully considered other 15 

forms of entertainment activities and amusements, both 16 

indoors and out, such as movie theaters and large 17 

shopping complexes.  But in the end, we were concerned 18 

that doing anything that might encourage visits by 19 

unsupervised teenagers and children would be a very 20 

negative thing.  To be sure, the Sugarhouse will be a 21 

vibrant mixed use environment, and we will offer a 22 

very broad range of dining and entertainment venues, 23 

but these are intended to be enjoyed primarily by our 24 

adult customers.  We invite families and their 25 
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supervised children to enjoy our waterfront, to visit 1 

the restaurants and ultimately to stay in the hotel, 2 

but we believe we have a social responsibility not to 3 

create certain activities that might otherwise 4 

encourage teenagers to hang out here.  We are certain 5 

the Board would agree with this.  We were similarly 6 

concerned that certain other potential uses that 7 

aren't really accessory to gaming might further 8 

exacerbate traffic concerns and dramatically increase 9 

the need for onsite parking. 10 

  Now, I'd like to address the phasing of 11 

the project.  As mentioned, the initial interim casino 12 

as we call it will form the public's first impression 13 

of the Sugarhouse.  It will represent a permanent 14 

facility to accommodate the first 1,500 slot machines. 15 

The facility will be supported at its opening day by a 16 

2,400 space parking garage that joins the facility 17 

with direct elevator access to the main casino floor. 18 

What you're seeing on this slide is the lower level of 19 

the facility below the actual public casino floor.  20 

But very important, the interim casino structure will 21 

incorporate much of the permanent infrastructure and 22 

back of house support spaces required not only for the 23 

initial 1,500 slots but for the future expansion 24 

phases as well.  This is a very significant 25 
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investment. 1 

  The infrastructure includes the permanent 2 

cage, vault and count areas on the gaming floor proper 3 

as well as the Gaming Control Board offices, state 4 

police, Gaming Control Board parking and armored car 5 

bays below.  This initial phase will also include the 6 

permanent employee facilities such as employee dining 7 

areas and lounges and lockers, that things that make 8 

it a good place to work. 9 

  You'll notice that during the interim 10 

phase the entire Delaware Avenue frontage will be 11 

landscaped, and we have no surface parking in sight at 12 

all.  This image depicts the interim casino gaming 13 

floor where the public perceives the space.  The 14 

orange --- the orange is, of course, the gaming area 15 

while the darker gray area in the lower right corner 16 

represents the cage area where dedicated elevators --- 17 

secured elevators go down to the armored car bay and 18 

the Gaming Control Board suite below. 19 

  Two public entrances are highlighted.  20 

These serve the gaming floor.  One at the upper 21 

left-hand corner is a split level pedestrian entrance 22 

that forms part of our entrance pavilion, and that 23 

leads from the valet dropoff area.  And the other 24 

entrance to the right leads directly from the large 25 
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parking garage.  The yellow indicates food and 1 

beverage, and the interim --- the inner casino will 2 

have four venues including a restaurant, a food court, 3 

a casino level lounge and what we hope will be a fun, 4 

festive and lively skyline lounge on the upper level 5 

overlooking the gaming floor and with tremendous views 6 

back towards Center City, and we'll show you an image 7 

of that in a moment. 8 

  The total seating capacity of all these 9 

venues will be approximately 390 seats.  We believe 10 

that the development of a permanent facility in lieu 11 

of a temporary one will provide the first --- the best 12 

first impression for our customers and will be less 13 

confusing to these patrons.  It will also be less 14 

disruptive to employees and to our onsite regulators 15 

than moving and changing facilities. 16 

  We'll now move on to the Phase I 17 

expansion which will bring the total slot count to 18 

3,000.  This is depicted in the reddish overlay zone 19 

in the middle of the screen.  This is simply a 20 

horizontal expansion of the interim casino building 21 

with the additional of new valet parking spaces below 22 

the casino floor and extending out gray to the south 23 

the complement of parking will exceed 3,000 spaces or 24 

slightly in excess of one per gaming device. 25 
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  In this phase, very important, we will 1 

also complete the main casino entrance porte-cochere 2 

and the giant landscaped forecourt facing Delaware 3 

Avenue as well as the main riverfront entrance which 4 

is flanked by restaurants and a new ballroom.  Again, 5 

you can see on this screen the gaming area is depicted 6 

in orange and you can see the addition of a number of 7 

our new restaurants arrayed around the parameter of 8 

the gaming floor depicted in yellow.  These new venues 9 

include a large buffet, a steakhouse, Italian 10 

restaurant and a specialty sports bar.  A feature bar 11 

at the epicenter of the casino floor, which we 12 

affectionately refer to as the Hog Island Bar, will 13 

add focus and break up the larger gaming area into 14 

distinguishable and somewhat separately themed rooms. 15 

  At the completion of Phase I, we have 16 

approximately 1,300 seats spread among the various 17 

food and beverage venues, a 6,000 square foot ballroom 18 

and its breakout space is depicted in darker green in 19 

the lower corner towards the waterfront.  You may also 20 

notice an additional entrance coming from the self 21 

park garage.  You can see that in the lower right.  22 

For the convenience of our customers, we have located 23 

two separate elevator cores leading from the garage to 24 

the casino.  This significantly reduces the walking 25 
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distant for our patrons --- patrons to the elevators, 1 

and this is particularly important for elderly 2 

patrons. 3 

  This image depicts the subsequent Phase 4 

II expansion which really moves the project into the 5 

realm of an urban waterfront resort.  Again, the 6 

expansion area is highlighted in the reddish overlay. 7 

This phase includes the potential addition of 2,000 8 

more slot machines for a total of 5,000.  Although 9 

it's a matter for the legislator to decide, we have 10 

programmed some additional gaming space into this 11 

phase so as not to preclude the ability at some point 12 

in time to accommodate table games. 13 

  In Phase II, we also add a 500 key luxury 14 

hotel and spa and a dramatic new 30,000 square foot 15 

multipurpose entertainment venue which is capable of 16 

accommodating banquets as well as concerts and the 17 

like and live entertainment, of course. 18 

  At this point, the property will be 19 

supported by 4,250 plus parking spaces that are 20 

achieved with the addition of one bay of the self one 21 

bay additional to the self park garage to the north as 22 

well as a new smaller low rise parking structure along 23 

Delaware Avenue to support the hotel.  At this point, 24 

the other entrance pavilion or the sort of reciprocal 25 
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form to the interim phase is added along Delaware 1 

Avenue.  Now, you can see the fully expanded gaming 2 

floor with the additional slot areas, and of course, 3 

more restaurants and lounges lining the parameter 4 

where possible, taking advantage of our spectacular 5 

river views.  The purple area represents the future 6 

hotel check-in and reception area, and it's very close 7 

to the porte-cochere as it should be. 8 

  This next image depicts the main 9 

entertainment level which is one level directly above 10 

the gaming floor much as it organized in the Borgata, 11 

if you've been there.  This event center capable of 12 

accommodating up to 2,500 persons is shown in green 13 

--- in green with this expensive breakout or 14 

pre-function space opening up to the river.  Banquet 15 

and room service kitchens are also located on this 16 

level.  The purple images show the spa and typical 17 

hotel levels as we ascend through the 18-story tower. 18 

  This next image shows the level below the 19 

gaming floor which accommodates the valet and provides 20 

all the critically important back of house service 21 

connections from the central loading dock area to all 22 

of the various project components.  Obviously, this is 23 

totally concealed and out of the public's view.  A 24 

proper bus loading and waiting facility is provided on 25 
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this level with direct elevator and escalator access 1 

directly to the casino.  This level will also be used 2 

by any --- this area will be used by any bus traffic 3 

which we believe will be minimal, but is more likely 4 

to be used by our employee shuttle buses. 5 

  I should point out that beyond Phase II 6 

and consistent with what we understand the provisions 7 

of the CED ordinance to be we should enjoy additional 8 

development rights in a future hotel tower or possibly 9 

a condominium tower over the freestanding garage on 10 

Delaware Avenue that accompanies Phase II. 11 

  And now, we would like to address 12 

schedule.  Assuming that we have the requisite 13 

approvals in hand by April 2007, we anticipate the 14 

completion of the interim casino in April 2008.  Next, 15 

Phase I with its full compliment of 3,000 slots and an 16 

expanded food and beverage program, we anticipate to 17 

be completed by September 2009.  This is followed, of 18 

course, at some future date by the completion of Phase 19 

II to include the hotel, event center and up to 5,000 20 

slots.  You can see how that pieces together. 21 

  This is a snapshot of the interim casino, 22 

again a permanent building.  This is its entrance 23 

along Delaware Avenue.  This is --- you'll notice that 24 

there is a temporary at grade valet dropoff area.  25 
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That says in service while we are constructing Phase 1 

I.  It is the only temporary component to the project. 2 

We want the entrance to be lively, bright and 3 

inviting, kinetic and dynamic, to be inviting for 4 

patrons arriving by both car and foot.  You can see 5 

the Skyline Lounge just above the entrance, and that 6 

has wonderful views back to the city. 7 

  This next image is the porte-cochere 8 

which is completed in Phase I.  This is our front 9 

door, and 99.9 percent of our patrons will arrive to 10 

the facility this way and enjoy this view.  You can 11 

see the driveway and the sidewalks flanking it gently 12 

sloping up to the casino level concealing all of that 13 

valet and backup house space below.  We hope this is 14 

an impressive sense of arrival.  Pulling back, you can 15 

see the entire porte-cochere forecourt flanked by the 16 

two entrance pavilions.  These spaces, again, will be 17 

dynamic, conservative, even moderne, yet gracious.  18 

You can see the Phase II tower beyond. 19 

  Although the details of our outdoor 20 

promenades are being refined in terms of finished 21 

materials and graphics and landscaping, I think you 22 

get a sense of the importance and scale we've devoted 23 

to the public open space throughout the project. 24 

  We have developed a physical model, which 25 
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we have here, and I believe you were seeing some 1 

photographs of, which we use as a design tool.  But I 2 

would invite and, in fact, encourage the Board to take 3 

a closer look as I think this best captures the 4 

character and scale of the design.  Casinos need not 5 

be windowless boxes, and the Sugarhouse will be open 6 

up and inviting to both the street and the river. 7 

  In closing, this is an extraordinary site 8 

to be sure, the very best in the city we believe, and 9 

we would not trade it for any other.  The only thing 10 

better that this site is the team that Neil and Greg 11 

have assembled to pull it off.  This is an 12 

extraordinary group of very talented, experienced and 13 

very, very hands-on people, and I'm confident that 14 

this group will develop a first class facility that 15 

can complete with any facility in any jurisdiction.  16 

We look forward to working with the Board, our 17 

neighbors and the City of Philadelphia to bring the 18 

Sugarhouse to fruition.  With that, I will turn it 19 

over to Bob Henderson to discuss traffic in greater 20 

detail.  Thank you. 21 

------------------------------------------------------ 22 

ROBERT HENDERSON, HAVING BEEN PREVIOUSLY SWORN, 23 

TESTIFIED AS FOLLOWS: 24 

------------------------------------------------------ 25 
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  MR. HENDERSON: 1 

  Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman and members 2 

of the Board.  I appreciate the opportunity to speak 3 

with you this afternoon.  This is a subject that's 4 

dear to the hearts of many, and that's traffic.  My 5 

name is Bob Henderson.  I am vice president of 6 

development with Keating, and I am charged with the 7 

responsibility of managing a certain number of 8 

development activities on behalf of HSP Gaming. 9 

  I'm here today to summarize the findings 10 

of our experts regarding traffic at Sugarhouse in what 11 

I hope is laymen terms.  Traffic gets complicated.  12 

You heard that from your own consultants earlier.  I'm 13 

going to try and explain it as simply as we can here 14 

this afternoon. 15 

  I'll say that from the beginning the 16 

ownership has understood the importance of addressing 17 

--- addressing traffic and casino traffic in 18 

particular in a very comprehensive way.  So we hired 19 

experts.  In the beginning, it was Gannett Fleming.  20 

Gannett Fleming I believe you know.  They're a 21 

nationally recognized firm in transportation and 22 

traffic engineering.  They're headquartered in 23 

Pennsylvania, and they have an exceptionally well 24 

grounded knowledge from our previous experience in 25 
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working with traffic in Philadelphia. 1 

  They started where we started and that's 2 

at looking at sites in Philadelphia.  They looked at 3 

the streets and areas surrounding about 11 sites 4 

inside the city.  They looked at access to these 5 

sites.  They even took specific traffic --- new 6 

traffic counts at a number of those locations along 7 

the way as well.  The results of that review and 8 

analysis on their part was that Sugarhouse was hands 9 

down the best of the sites we looked at in the City of 10 

Philadelphia from even the initial stages. 11 

  Next, we brought another expert, Urban 12 

Systems, to our consultant team.  Urban Systems has 13 

completed over 30 casino traffic studies over the past 14 

16 years.  Important to note, Dennis Finnegan is --- 15 

who is president of Urban Systems, was selected by the 16 

City's Task Force on Gaming, the Advisory Commission 17 

on Gaming to help them in reviewing and analyzing, 18 

evaluating potential casino sites.  I believe it was 19 

11 again in their case as well. 20 

  So collectively, these experts over the 21 

last six months to a year have really completed an 22 

impressive body of work, we believe.  Among those are 23 

the initial traffic impact analysis that was provided 24 

in December of this past year.  It was updated in a 25 
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very comprehensive way in October of this year.  1 

They've met with our architect, coordinated with Ian 2 

on many occasions trying to get to the right mix of 3 

how traffic works with his design.  They've worked 4 

with community groups.  I think they've listened 5 

carefully to what the community has had to say.  6 

They've responded to a request by PennDOT to meet with 7 

them.  And finally, they are actively working and will 8 

continue to actively work with Edwards and Kelcey.  9 

They've responded already to two letters as you've 10 

heard today, and that will continue moving forward 11 

working with Edwards and Kelcey with PennDOT and the 12 

community.  It will be a joint partnership as we see 13 

it. 14 

  The conclusion of our experts then we can 15 

say is that the site size, the roads, the streets and 16 

the intersections serving this facility provide a more 17 

than adequate level of service to support the 18 

Sugarhouse Casino and other local area traffic.  19 

That's an important point.  And they came to that 20 

conclusion as the result of thinking about four 21 

significant things.  First of all, I'm going to just 22 

list them and then we'll go back to them, the size of 23 

our site, our ability to separate traffic on the site, 24 

the availability of three signalized intersections and 25 
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the capacity really of North Delaware Avenue to handle 1 

this new undertaking called Sugarhouse Casino. 2 

  Let's go back and look at each one of 3 

those.  The Sugarhouse site is of course a 22 acre 4 

site as you have heard.  One of the important factors 5 

about a site that size is the ability to provide both 6 

plentiful and free parking to your customers and 7 

employees.  Needless to say, we want our customers, 8 

employees parking on the site, and if you have plenty 9 

of room, you can make that happen.  So in Phase I --- 10 

actually on opening day, we will have 2,400 parking 11 

spaces.  By the end of Phase I, we'll have 3,000, and 12 

by the end of Phase II, we'll have 4,250 spaces.  All 13 

of this is possible because of the size of our site.  14 

Not only does it help us park the cars, but there's 15 

enough room to move the cars around on our site.  Our 16 

cars, our customers' cars are not backing out onto 17 

local streets. 18 

  Point two, the separation of traffic on 19 

our site.  A casino, as you heard from Ian and others, 20 

is a complex undertaking of very significant mixed use 21 

development.  And to make that work, you need the room 22 

and you need to be able to separate the traffic.  So 23 

in our case, we have the ability to create separate 24 

entrances for valet, for self park, for trucks and 25 
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buses allowing all of them plenty of queue space. 1 

  The third and we think very significant 2 

point is that we have three signalized intersections, 3 

two right at the site, one just south of the site at 4 

Penn Street.  All of them are important to giving our 5 

customers and those visiting the site the options and 6 

ways to arrive and depart from the site so that it 7 

isn't all at a signal point intersection.  This is 8 

important at Shackamaxon, at Frankford and at Penn 9 

Street and is one of the reasons from the very 10 

beginning we thought this was the site to be at. 11 

  Finally, the fourth point is the 12 

available capacity on North Delaware Avenue.  It is a 13 

large broad avenue, and it has the ability to deliver 14 

traffic to these three intersections that we think are 15 

key to our development today. 16 

  So where does that leave us, and what 17 

does all this mean?  It means in the short term that 18 

the site works.  By short term, I mean the interim and 19 

first phases of the casino development.  With certain 20 

intersection modifications, we can --- and 21 

signalization improvements referred to by Edwards and 22 

Kelcey as well but certainly amplified by our own 23 

consultants.  With those signalization improvements 24 

and with modifications at Shackamaxon and Frankford 25 
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getting two left-hand turn lanes, for example, from 1 

the southbound movements on Delaware Avenue, we have 2 

the ability to move the traffic into our site. 3 

  With the completion of the Girard Avenue 4 

Interchange reconstruction, which is of course key to 5 

many things, currently scheduled to be completed in 6 

2012, this site we firmly believe will serve casino 7 

traffic better than any site in the City of 8 

Philadelphia.  So in short, our experts offer this 9 

opinion, that the traffic works on this site, that 10 

it's a great site.  And I'm going to ask our experts, 11 

both Sue Givens from Gannett Fleming and Dennis 12 

Finnegan from Urban Systems, to stand up and attest to 13 

the fact that they agree with my summary. 14 

  MR. FINNEGAN: 15 

  Yes. 16 

  MS. GIVENS: 17 

  Yes, I do. 18 

  MR. HENDERSON: 19 

  Okay.  With that, I thank you very much. 20 

I thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Thank you, the Board.  And 21 

Greg? 22 

  MR. CARLIN: 23 

  Thank you, Bob.  Next, I'd like to 24 

introduce Peter Tyson from PKF Consulting who helped 25 
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us with our gaming market assessment.  Peter? 1 

------------------------------------------------------ 2 

PETER TYSON, HAVING BEEN PREVIOUSLY SWORN, TESTIFIED 3 

AS FOLLOWS: 4 

------------------------------------------------------ 5 

  MR. TYSON: 6 

  Thank you, Greg.  Good afternoon, Mr. 7 

Chairman and Members of the Board.  While you've heard 8 

that Sugarhouse has a great site, it's got a great 9 

management team, it's got a great design and people 10 

can get there, now the big question is what does that 11 

mean to the developer, to the owners and to the 12 

Commonwealth in terms of, in particular, casino win. 13 

  My name's Peter Tyson.  I'm a vice 14 

president in the Philadelphia office of PKF Consulting 15 

one of the nation's oldest and largest hospitality 16 

consulting firms.  I've personally been involved in 17 

performing market and financial studies for casinos 18 

since they came to Atlantic City in the mid 1970s.  19 

Since that time, I've personally been involved with 20 

casino engagements in nine states in the United States 21 

as well as engagements in Canada, the Caribbean, South 22 

America, the Far East and the Near East. 23 

  In early October of 2006, PKF was 24 

contacted by Greg Carlin to update the casino win 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

 

82   82 

projection portion of the projections we prepared over 1 

a year earlier along with Saul F. Leonard and Company. 2 

Our projections assumed that the interim casino would 3 

have 1,500 units, as you've just heard, when it opens 4 

on or about May of 2008 and then would expand to the 5 

full Phase I capacity of 3,000 unit the following 6 

November.  We assumed for the purposes of our analysis 7 

that the second what we consider to be generic 8 

Category 2 license in Philadelphia would have the same 9 

configuration at the same periods in time, just that 10 

we basically split the market in two.  Until such time 11 

that we know the specific location of both awarded 12 

licenses, you can't really do a detailed gravitational 13 

model. 14 

  To cut to the chase, our projected win 15 

for Sugarhouse in a stabilized year with its 3,000 16 

Phase I slot machines came out to be in 2005 dollars 17 

$370 million.  Just at the end of last week, we 18 

received from the Board's task force their 19 

projections.  And if you look at the same scenario 20 

with stabilized 3,000 units at Sugarhouse and 3,000 at 21 

the second Category 2 casino, the task force projected 22 

a win of approximately $348 million.  At the same 23 

time, as you heard earlier from Greg Carlin, 24 

management had prepared a conservative case set of 25 
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projections wherein their stabilized year casino win 1 

was $320 million.  So you've got three different sets 2 

of projections.  We were at the high end at roughly 3 

370.  That's about six percent higher than what the 4 

task force projected.  And then you've got the 5 

operators projecting at 320 which is about eight 6 

percent lower than what the task force projected.  7 

We're frankly looking at a 15 point spread between the 8 

highest and the lowest.  We feel that that's a very 9 

tight spread and really represents three good credible 10 

opinions of what the casino revenue potential is for 11 

Sugarhouse Phase I stabilized. 12 

  As the Board --- I know the Board has 13 

heard numerous descriptions of drive time methodology 14 

at your Category 1 hearings.  I won't take up your 15 

valuable time by going through the methodology chapter 16 

and verse, but I would like to point out a few things 17 

just to give you some comfort that I just didn't pop a 18 

number on the back of an envelope.  As you'll look at 19 

the zonal map that's on the TV screen, I started out 20 

with assuming the optimal or in this case most 21 

conservative assumption in terms of competitive venues 22 

that's possible.  By conservative I mean the most 23 

competitors that could be in the market, the most 24 

competitive situation.  25 
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  If you start at the west, we'll quickly 1 

go clockwise around the Philadelphia area.  You've got 2 

a proposed Category 2 facility out in Adams County. To 3 

the west going north, you hit Penn National Racino 4 

near Harrisburg.  Then I assume some --- a Category 2 5 

license in either Allentown or Bethlehem.  Obviously, 6 

there could be one in the Poconos as well. And then a 7 

racino up in Wilkes-Barre.  Heading to the northeast, 8 

you have the newly opened slot racino at Yonkers 9 

Raceway, and there is talk of at least one more in the 10 

general New York City area which certainly will be a 11 

competitive factor particularly to Atlantic City.  12 

Speaking of Atlantic City, you go down to the 13 

southeast and that's where they now have 11 casino 14 

hotels operating with the recent closure of the Sands. 15 

And finally to the south of the Philadelphia area, you 16 

have Delaware Park and Dover Downs.  Those are --- 17 

that's the competitive set that I assumed in addition 18 

to the four Philadelphia area licenses, the two 19 

Category 1s and the two Category 2s. 20 

  If we go to the next slide --- and what I 21 

did was take a look at the populations, pardon me, 22 

I'll back up to that slide, of each county that fell 23 

into that zone.  By looking at the highway networks, 24 

et cetera, one can figure out what the propensity is 25 
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for these people to travel to different casinos 1 

because of ease of access and convenience.  And we did 2 

that on a county by county basis. 3 

  We used industry supported metrics for 4 

the various items, adult visitors.  We just used 5 

population census --- 2005 census estimates for that 6 

for people 21 years of age and over, propensity to 7 

gain frequency and win per visitor.  You've heard all 8 

about those metrics.  We basically did that for the 9 

entire market to say what the residential market would 10 

generate in terms of casino win and then did estimated 11 

allocations to each of the four licenses in 12 

Philadelphia and then other as a separate group.  13 

Where's the money going to migrate out to the other 14 

surrounding venues?  It came out that Sugarhouse we 15 

estimate would get about 23 percent of that total win. 16 

I also forgot to mention that we added in an assumed 17 

small amount of win from hotel visitors who were 18 

staying in the area right now in zones one and two.  19 

We felt Smith Travel Research occupied room data is a 20 

great way to make an assumption as to what the hotel 21 

visitors could bring to the equation from out of town. 22 

  So we feel very comfortable that the 23 

casino win estimates both prepared by the task force, 24 

by the applicant and ourselves fall into a nice tight 25 
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cluster, and we think it shows that those win levels 1 

as well as the interim period win levels are very 2 

supportive of a successful project. 3 

  One other quick matter.  I've been asked 4 

to speak briefly as to the comparative evidence 5 

submission by the Riverwalk Casino concerning 6 

potential hotel overbuilding in the Philadelphia area 7 

should a hotel be built on our site.  I did submit a 8 

letter, which hopefully the Board has seen, and I 9 

won't parrot all of the comments I made in there.  But 10 

basically, my 35 years of experience specifically with 11 

the hotel industry in Philadelphia and in my role as 12 

consultant to the Hotel Association, to the Convention 13 

Bureau and to the Greater Philadelphia Tourism 14 

Marketing Corporation I can --- I respectfully submit 15 

that the contentions in there that a 500 room hotel at 16 

Sugarhouse would dilute or harm the hotels in the 17 

region as it's stated in their letter is really sort 18 

of an immaterial comment and it's frankly speechless 19 

(sic). It's a one percent increase in the supply of 20 

the region's hotels. 21 

  The hotels in Center City Philadelphia, 22 

they make a big deal of the 73 percent occupancy on a 23 

million available room nights.  The hotels are in 24 

essence full Tuesday, Wednesday and Saturday nights.  25 
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It's hard to get a hotel room in Philadelphia during 1 

most of the year.  There's demand turned away on those 2 

three nights most of the year.  In fact, there are 3 

several hotel developers trying to find sites.  There 4 

are projects underway.  Strongly supported by the 5 

Convention Bureau, by the GPTMC, more hotels are 6 

needed in Philadelphia.  And it would be a drop in the 7 

bucket, this 500-room property.  And certainly it 8 

wouldn't affect the average room rates of the existing 9 

hotels to have 500 casino rooms. 10 

  Finally, the casino would generate some 11 

new casino demand for the city that just isn't there 12 

now.  You could add that into the demand that exists 13 

in the city, and that helps the equation.  Thank you 14 

very much for your time.  I look forward to answering 15 

any questions you might have. 16 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 17 

  We're going to take about a five-minute 18 

break.  We're up here in the sweatbox, and we need to 19 

go find some air conditioning. 20 

SHORT BREAK TAKEN 21 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 22 

  We are back in session.  I think you have 23 

one more witness; right? 24 

  MR. BLUHM: 25 
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  Yes.  Just a couple of --- thank you, 1 

Peter, by the way.  I just wanted to make a couple of 2 

comments about the hotel that we plan for Phase II.  3 

It is common knowledge, and I think you could take 4 

judicial notice of the fact that the hotel industry is 5 

booming in the United States, North America and, 6 

frankly, around the world.  The biggest mistake that 7 

we made in developing the Niagara Fallsview Casino and 8 

Hotel was not building a bigger hotel.  We built about 9 

a 365-room hotel, and we should have built about a 10 

1,000-room hotel, because you can't get into our hotel 11 

most of the time.  And all the other hotels in the 12 

area are doing great business and expanding.  People 13 

like having a hotel attached to a casino, because it 14 

just creates more activity and revenue when you can 15 

stay at the hotel.  16 

  Now, I'd like to discuss for a minute our 17 

financing and call our last witness, or whatever the 18 

right word is.  Our project is going to cost us $550 19 

million.  That's an increase over our earlier 20 

projections.  We've spent a lot of time going over our 21 

projections with Dan Keating's group, Ian's group.  22 

And we've built a lot of properties in our lives and 23 

we know you can have cost overruns.  So we've done a 24 

lot of work and we've been very careful in reaching 25 
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that number.  That's for the completion of Phase I, 1 

through Phase I.  Now, from that $550 million, we 2 

expect to generate approximately, I'm using round 3 

numbers here, $50 million worth of income from 4 

operating the interim casino until we complete the 5 

rest of Phase I.   6 

  Now, in order to finance our project and 7 

because we're conservative when we deal with financing 8 

and things of that sort, we went out and received a 9 

fully financed and committed financing commitment from 10 

Merrill Lynch for $445 million.  In addition, we are 11 

going to put up $75 million of cash equity when we 12 

open --- when we start construction, which includes 13 

buying a license, $15 million in a letter of credit, 14 

which will support any reduction in income from our 15 

projected interim and another $15 million of cash 16 

equity to the extent needed to cover any shortage of 17 

income.  So we end up with $105 million of committed 18 

cash equity when added to the financing of $445 19 

million gives us a total of $550 million.  Our 20 

projection is $550 minus $50 million of income, but 21 

we're not counting any income.  So if we have zero 22 

income, which we obviously don't expect, we have $550 23 

million to complete our project.  Included in our 24 

budgeted costs, I might add, is an ample reserve for 25 
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contingencies.   1 

  At this point, I’d like to ask Stephen 2 

Park, vice president of Merrill Lynch, to comment on 3 

their commitment.  Stephen? 4 

------------------------------------------------------ 5 

STEPHEN PARK, HAVING BEEN PREVIOUSLY SWORN, TESTIFIED 6 

AS FOLLOWS: 7 

------------------------------------------------------ 8 

  MR. PARK: 9 

  Thank you.  Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman, 10 

and members of the Board.  My name's Stephen Park, and 11 

I'm a vice president with Merrill Lynch Gaming 12 

Coverage Group.  Merrill Lynch's Gaming Group is a 13 

leading investment banking practice on Wall Street.  14 

Since 2005, Merrill Lynch has raised nearly $10 15 

billion in capital for our clients with a particular 16 

focus on single site project financings.  With respect 17 

to the Sugarhouse Project, Merrill Lynch has run a 18 

full diligence process focusing on project costs, 19 

business projections and a management team.  Based on 20 

the findings of our diligence process, Merrill Lynch 21 

has provided a full commitment for $445 million of 22 

financing in connection with the Sugarhouse Project.  23 

The Sugarhouse management team has enormous 24 

credibility and credentials within the gaming 25 
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industry.  And on behalf of Merrill Lynch, we are 1 

proud to represent the Sugarhouse team in financing. 2 

  MR. BLUHM: 3 

  Thank you, Stephen.  Well, we're coming 4 

to the end.  You must be tired of us.  So I thought 5 

I'd give you a quick summary and conclusion of what 6 

we've been trying to convey to you this afternoon.  We 7 

believe, as you’ve heard, that we've got the best site 8 

in Philadelphia.  Our location on Delaware has 9 

tremendous views, ample size, 22 acres, so we can 10 

build a great mixed-use project.  We're close enough 11 

to Center City, not far from Penn's Landing and the 12 

growing entertainment on Delaware Avenue, while at the 13 

same time, we believe we are going to create the least 14 

amount of impact on nearby residents and minimal 15 

traffic impacts.   16 

  We have a world class design from Ian 17 

Cope.  You know, he's a very talented guy.  I've dealt 18 

with a lot of architects in my life.  Greg and I spent 19 

time going over Borgata and we loved it and we wanted 20 

to try create something similar here.  We've put 21 

together a terrific and experienced team to operate 22 

this facility headed by Bob Sheldon, who you met 23 

earlier today.  We're really fortunate to get him.  24 

And we're going to build this project with Dan 25 
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Keating.  Dan's built a lot of projects.  He knows how 1 

to build things and we're very comfortable.  And not 2 

only that, Dan is our partner in the project as well.  3 

  We have a proven commitment to diversity 4 

and community outreach.  We have no competing casinos 5 

in Atlantic City, no conflicts of interest.  All of 6 

our resources and attention will be in Philadelphia.  7 

We believe we will generate the maximum tax revenues 8 

for the Commonwealth.  We put together conservative 9 

numbers because we don't want to --- we want downside 10 

protection in our financing, et cetera.  We believe we 11 

will significantly exceed those numbers.  We have a 12 

fully financed commitment from Merrill Lynch, and we 13 

have more than ample resources to fund whatever equity 14 

is required for this project.  Our ownership team has 15 

a strong connection to Philadelphia and the 16 

Commonwealth and unquestioned integrity.  You know who 17 

you are dealing with.   18 

  We are most excited about this project, 19 

what it will do for Philadelphia and the surrounding 20 

area.  It will be exciting and it will create tourism 21 

and be a real plus for the community.  Gaming in 22 

Philadelphia must be done right and we would do it 23 

right.  This is not another gaming casino in some 24 

small town or another riverboat.  I hope you realize 25 
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this.  But when the Philadelphia casinos open, 1 

Philadelphia will be the largest city in the United 2 

States to have casino gambling in its borders.   3 

  As a developer, my companies have 4 

specialized in world class mixed-use projects in major 5 

cities, whether it be Copley Place in Boston, Water 6 

Tower of the Four Seasons Hotel in Bloomingdale's Mall 7 

in Chicago, the Four Seasons Complex here in 8 

Philadelphia or Towers in Century City, Los Angeles 9 

or, of course, the Fallsview Casino Project in Niagara 10 

Falls.  We are committed to build you a world class 11 

project that the City of Philadelphia and the 12 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania will be proud of.  We are 13 

ready, willing and able to go if you select us, and I 14 

hope you do.   15 

  I want to thank our team for all their 16 

hard work and effort in planning this project and 17 

preparing all of the materials for submission to the 18 

Gaming Board.  Lastly, I want to thank the staff and 19 

the Board for all your hard work and conscientious 20 

efforts in order to select the best project for 21 

Philadelphia and the Commonwealth.  Thank you.  22 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 23 

  Thank you very much.  What questions do 24 

we have of the Applicant, please? 25 
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  MR. MARSHALL: 1 

  Mr. Chairman, I have three questions for 2 

the Applicant and one for Denyse Miskin.  Do you 3 

happen to know the complaint about or the concern 4 

issue about the excess hotel rooms.  Do you know 5 

whether there was any figuring in to the expansion of 6 

the Philadelphia Convention Center? 7 

  MR. TYSON: 8 

  Sir, I don't know the basis for their 9 

complaint.  They did no projections or numbers with 10 

it. 11 

  MR. MARSHALL: 12 

  But presumably the expansion in the 13 

Convention Center would generate demand for more hotel 14 

rooms? 15 

  MR. TYSON: 16 

  It is certainly hoped so.   17 

  MR. MARSHALL: 18 

  Okay.  Right now, your projected to get 19 

opening with your interim casino somewhere between 12 20 

and 16 months ahead of --- or behind, I guess, 21 

Philadelphia Park and Chester.  Do you have any 22 

concern if you get hung up zoning or things like that 23 

appreciably that will give them --- that would 24 

obviously give them a head start and does that impact 25 
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to any great degree your project? 1 

  MR. BLUHM: 2 

  Well, two things.  One, we think that we 3 

will be able to open our interim facility in 4 

approximately a year after the license is issued.  And 5 

we're ready to go.  On zoning, we believe, and I think 6 

you heard Ian discuss that in detail, but we comply 7 

with what we understand the conditions are for zoning 8 

under the proposed new ordinance that the City has 9 

enacted.  10 

  MR. MARSHALL: 11 

  I'm not predicting a problem I'm just 12 

wondering if something were to happen.  The notion is 13 

if they get more than a year's head start. 14 

  MR. BLUHM: 15 

  Well, all right.  Let me get to the third 16 

point which is really then, I think, the question 17 

you're asking.  We have really created in our interim 18 

facility a really nice facility.  It's not some kind 19 

of sprung structure or some kind of riverboat that we 20 

might buy and put on the river.  It’s really part of 21 

our permanent facility.  It's the first section, then 22 

we just expand it to complete Phase I.  So it's going 23 

to be a very nice facility and we think because of our 24 

location on Delaware Avenue, that we would just do 25 
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fine whether we're 12 months or 16 months after the 1 

other facilities.   2 

  MR. MARSHALL: 3 

  Next question is, now do you have 4 

possession of the riparian rights that you'll need for 5 

your project? 6 

  MR. BLUHM: 7 

  We believe that there will be no question 8 

that we will get riparian rights.  We believe that for 9 

a couple of reasons.  First, we think we can get them 10 

either from the administration or alternatively 11 

through legislative action.  The Administration would 12 

grant them under a proposed bill that is pending that 13 

has been adopted by the Senate and is pending in the 14 

House that we would expect would be voted on by the 15 

House and approved by and signed by the Governor.  16 

That bill, as I understand it, mandates that the 17 

Administration grant riparian rights to casinos upon 18 

paying fair market value for those rights.   19 

  MR. MARSHALL: 20 

  But you don't have a concern?  21 

  MR. BLUHM: 22 

  We have no concern, sir.  And even if 23 

that bill was not enacted, there is a long history and 24 

policy of granting riparian rights to developers along 25 
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the water.  In fact, the two --- the condominiums 1 

right next to our site have, and were granted, 2 

riparian rights.  As a developer in Chicago or in ---3 

we were involved with Faneuil Hall when it was built 4 

in Boston near the water and the wharf.  It's 5 

inconceivable to me that the Legislature would not 6 

grant riparian rights for a project of this sort when 7 

it's going to benefit the Commonwealth and the City of 8 

Pennsylvania (sic) and increase their revenues.  So we 9 

have no concerns about getting riparian rights.  In 10 

the extremely unlikely --- we don't view it as a 11 

possibility, but if it could happen, we could still 12 

build our project but it would not be as good for the 13 

Commonwealth or the citizens around here. 14 

  MR. MARSHALL: 15 

  The point is your project's not dependent 16 

on ---? 17 

  MR. BLUHM: 18 

  That's correct. 19 

  MR. MARSHALL: 20 

  Yeah.  I mean, it makes --- I understand 21 

what you're saying.  22 

  MR. BLUHM: 23 

  We'd have to change our design, but it's 24 

not dependent on getting those riparian rights.   25 
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  MR. MARSHALL: 1 

  Thank you.  And then, Denyse --- because 2 

I seem to be the designated transition.  As you 3 

understand the financing, do you see a concern about 4 

getting from the grant of the license to the 5 

stabilized year and the financing? 6 

  MS. MISKIN: 7 

  No. 8 

  MR. MARSHALL: 9 

  Thank you.  10 

  MS. COLINS: 11 

  Mr. Bluhm, I'd like to ask you a number 12 

of questions just to clarify for myself the phasing of 13 

your project, if you will.  And to find out and to put 14 

on the --- ask you to put on the record what, if any, 15 

contingencies there are or may be which will trigger 16 

the beginning or trigger going into the next phase of 17 

your project.  Now, you --- your completed project 18 

after Phase II is obviously a project of the magnitude 19 

and quality that we're interested in in Pennsylvania. 20 

The first phase, you’ve now changed from a temporary 21 

phase, you’ve changed by definition to what you're 22 

calling an interim phase.  And that, I understand from 23 

the testimony, is to be a more --- is to be a 24 

permanent but small core phase, beginning phase.  Is 25 
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there a contingency that you have which would trigger 1 

going into Phase II that you should tell us about? 2 

Will Phase II --- Phase I, rather, be built no matter 3 

what or is there something that could happen which 4 

would keep you at Phase I and the interim permanent 5 

phase?  Can we start with those two things? 6 

  MR. BLUHM: 7 

  Yes, there is absolutely no possibility 8 

that we would not complete Phase I if you grant us a 9 

license.  We look at really just as the building of 10 

Phase I, but opening a section of that phase so that 11 

we have an interim operation within approximately 12 12 

months, which will also generate revenue for us while 13 

it --- while we complete the rest of Phase I.  There's 14 

no --- it's one construction contract.  It's one 15 

financing.  The equity is there.  That is not 16 

possible.  17 

  MS. COLINS: 18 

  Now, Phase II, which includes the hotel. 19 

I think it's 500 rooms, the amenities, et cetera, also 20 

you described that phase as being --- having an 21 

additional 2,000 slot machines going up to the 5,000 22 

slot machine level.  Is that phase, Phase II, also 23 

axiomatic no matter what?  Are there any contingencies 24 

that have to occur for you to get and complete Phase 25 
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II? 1 

  MR. BLUHM: 2 

  Yes.  Phase II will be built, and we 3 

fully expect to do it, but it's going to be based upon 4 

the economics of Phase I.  We haven't costed it out 5 

yet.  It will be done if the casino is as successful 6 

as we hope and the numbers are right.  We would expect 7 

to do Phase II.  But we are not committing to do Phase 8 

II, as we sit here today, although we fully expect to 9 

do Phase II. 10 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 11 

  Ken? 12 

  MR. MCCABE: 13 

  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I have three 14 

questions.  Judge Colins asked one of them.  For my 15 

clarification, did you plan, design and build the 16 

facility in Canada or are you just managing it? 17 

  MR. BLUHM: 18 

  No, sir.  We planned, designed and built. 19 

We put up all the equity.  We arranged the financing 20 

and we built it.  Upon completion, we sold it to the 21 

government for our costs of roughly a billion dollars, 22 

because under Canadian law, the government is the only 23 

one that can own it. 24 

  MR. MCCABE: 25 
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  Right. 1 

  MR. BLUHM: 2 

  But we did everything just as we're doing 3 

here in terms of put up the equity, built it.  We took 4 

the overrun risks.  It was built on time and on 5 

budget.  We simply sold it and then operate it under a 6 

25-year contract.   7 

  MR. MCCABE: 8 

  Okay.  Thank you.  The second thing is in 9 

conjunction with that facility, do you have any plans 10 

on trying to link player rewards or something between 11 

your Canadian facility and then the Philadelphia 12 

facility?  13 

  MR. BLUHM: 14 

  I'll let Bob and Greg answer that.  15 

  MR. CARLIN: 16 

  They're really separate markets and we 17 

don't have any plans to operate them --- we're going 18 

to operate them as separate facilities.  We don't have 19 

any plans to link up the marketing.  20 

  MR. MCCABE: 21 

  My last point is more of a concern and 22 

it’s a concern because of my background coming from 23 

the FBI and working in the FBI lab.  I saw in your 24 

plans this concealed truck services tunnel.  And I 25 
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used to be in charge of all the bombing response for 1 

the FBI.  And I'd like you to get together with your 2 

security people and look at possible ways to make sure 3 

you're checking that trucks, vehicles at large, don't 4 

have free access just to drive in and drive under 5 

there.  I know when I was in the FBI, we had concerns 6 

at one point that terrorists may use trucks.  McVeigh 7 

did, to blow big buildings up.  And it's just a 8 

concern.  I know when I left two years ago, we still 9 

had not figured out why the 9/11 highjackers had been 10 

out to Las Vegas.  So that's just a concern.  Don't 11 

let them flow freely in there.  Have some sort of 12 

check on them.  13 

  MR. SHELDON: 14 

  Yeah, I think that's an excellent point. 15 

And we would absolutely control traffic into those 16 

tunnels, do spot inspections with the exterior of the 17 

vehicles, as necessary check the contents.  And I 18 

think that's an excellent point.  And the routing of 19 

those tunnels and how they --- where they are in 20 

relationship to the occupied building, I think, is 21 

important as well.  And those are great points and 22 

we'll certainly endeavor to make that the best 23 

scenario possible.   24 

  MR. MCCABE: 25 
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  Thank you.  It's just the world we live 1 

in today.  It's changed.  Thank you.  2 

  MR. COY: 3 

  Mr. Chairman? 4 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 5 

  Yes.  6 

  MR. COY: 7 

  Just a few questions, if you would.  When 8 

Ken mentioned his FBI experience with explosives and 9 

all, I could compare my legislative experience, I 10 

guess, a little bit with explosive nature.  But at any 11 

rate, in terms of zoning, do you believe that what you 12 

have planned now and with the current zoning 13 

regulations that are in existence in the city of the 14 

first class, and county of the first class, do you 15 

believe that you meet current requirements? 16 

  MR. BLUHM: 17 

  We do.  And I'll ask Ian to comment on it 18 

as well.  19 

  MR. COPE: 20 

  Last year, the City, if I'm not mistaken 21 

last year it was, the City adopted this special 22 

ordinance in anticipation of lawful gaming.  It is the 23 

only ordinance that recognizes gaming as a permitted 24 

use and was clearly designed in round mixed-use gaming 25 
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facilities.  Our site and, in fact, for that matter, 1 

no site in the City of Philadelphia has yet to be 2 

designated as this district, this CED District.  The 3 

mechanism for that remains somewhat unclear.  It is a 4 

process involving the Planning Commission and 5 

typically involving an act of City Council.  So 6 

technically speaking no one in the City of 7 

Philadelphia has that right until the City so 8 

designates those sites as this new district.  9 

  MR. COY: 10 

  Aside from the district designation, I 11 

guess my concern was simply in terms of size of 12 

building, utilization of space, utilization of the 13 

current land use and so on.   14 

  MR. COPE: 15 

  Yes, with respect to that CED ordinance, 16 

which actually has very extensive open-space 17 

requirements and setbacks, we meet or exceed all of 18 

those in all of the physical characteristics of 19 

height, allowable building area, parking ratios, 20 

coverage and the like.   21 

  MR. COY: 22 

  Talk to me a little bit about workforce, 23 

especially with another license available in the City 24 

at some point at some place in the City.  Do you 25 
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believe that you will have access to an available 1 

workforce both in terms of gaming as well as in 2 

hospitality? 3 

  MR. SHELDON: 4 

  Yes, I do believe that.  I think the 5 

population density of the area, although it’s a 6 

relatively low unemployment compared to prior years, 7 

I've worked in environments with a much lower 8 

unemployment percentage and with a much thinner 9 

population in the base.  And we find that if the --- 10 

when the jobs are suitable and they're rewarding 11 

experiences and there's opportunity for advancement 12 

we'll get people to travel further distances than they 13 

might otherwise.  And we may have individuals that may 14 

travel --- drive 30 minutes to get into their job.  15 

That wouldn’t be unusual in my other experiences in 16 

other areas.   17 

  MR. COY: 18 

  In areas of low, relatively low, 19 

unemployment, one of the ways you address it is by 20 

reaching out to folks that travel a greater distance.  21 

Tell me some other ways that you address what ---? 22 

  MR. SHELDON: 23 

  Well, I think most importantly recruiting 24 

within the immediate areas, in the neighborhoods of 25 
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the facility.  I think to take advantage of --- there 1 

are people that are unemployed there and I think we 2 

have an opportunity to recruit and address them.  Our 3 

outreach programs are going to be designed to do that. 4 

Additionally working with some of the organizations 5 

that provide training programs to get people that 6 

don't have any hospitality or gaming experience, give 7 

them an opportunity to get in to a training program 8 

with little commitment on their part, other than to 9 

show up and be willing to learn and have the right 10 

aptitude.  When you offer people the opportunity to 11 

learn something, learn a trade, we've found great 12 

success in that.  13 

  MR. COY: 14 

  Do you work at all or do you plan to work 15 

at all with educational units, higher education units 16 

and so on?   17 

  MR. SHELDON: 18 

  Yes.  We would endeavor to work with the 19 

community college programs within --- not just in 20 

Philadelphia proper but in the region that where we 21 

--- whereby we could attract people that live close to 22 

those facilities, give them the opportunity to learn 23 

the business or just give them enough confidence to 24 

feel that they can get into the workplace in an 25 
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entry-level position and then come to know that 1 

they'll have a connection to the Sugarhouse facility 2 

once they complete that training to get an opportunity 3 

to interview for a job and take that training and put 4 

it to use.  And I think it's how we do that beyond 5 

just --- and again, firstly, the local neighborhoods 6 

and then expanding beyond that to different areas 7 

where there will be a population of people that need 8 

the jobs.   9 

  MR. COY: 10 

  I'm glad you mentioned local 11 

neighborhoods.  Working under the assumption that not 12 

everyone in the area of which you would be located and 13 

licensed, if you are licensed, would welcome you with 14 

open arms, how do you plan on dealing with that?  How 15 

do you plan on being a good neighbor?  How do you plan 16 

on improving relationships with local folks, both with 17 

residents and businesses and so on? 18 

  MR. CARLIN: 19 

  Well, we've had lots of meetings with 20 

local community groups back in March and April and 21 

more recently.  You know, we've really listened to 22 

what people had to say.  You know, we've had open 23 

debate about certain issues.   24 

  MR. COY: 25 
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  So there are open arms? 1 

  MR. CARLIN: 2 

  So far I think we've --- you know, we've 3 

made a real effort to reach out to the community and 4 

hear concerns.  You know, I mentioned the --- you 5 

know, one of the suggestions at a community meeting to 6 

fund a special services district.  We support that 7 

idea.  You know, we set up a foundation where some of 8 

the money we plan to direct to the local community to 9 

help with things that the local community may want to 10 

do, whether it's improving parks or doing things in 11 

the neighborhood.  So you know, we've really tried to 12 

be a good neighbor and a good corporate citizen.  You 13 

know, we've done that in Niagara Falls and we'll do 14 

that here in Philadelphia if we're selected. 15 

  MR. COY: 16 

  I have another question, too, but I think 17 

Commissioner Angeli has a follow-up to that.   18 

  MR. ANGELI: 19 

  Yeah.  Have you considered anything in 20 

the area of affordable housing for people who might 21 

work in that general region?  Have you worked with any 22 

of the local housing agencies to create housing for 23 

that workforce?  24 

  MR. CARLIN: 25 
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  To date, we have not done that, but I 1 

think that's a good suggestion and it's certainly 2 

something that we would consider and try to do 3 

something with that.  4 

  MR. ANGELI: 5 

  Thank you.  6 

  MR. COY: 7 

  So with regard to the funding of 8 

community organizations or contributions thereto, you 9 

would --- you would look to local residents to serve 10 

on an allocation committee or a --- to help you decide 11 

about things like that? 12 

  MR. CARLIN: 13 

  Correct.  I don't know if you're familiar 14 

with the Special Services District created in this 15 

state.  We're talking about a similar model here 16 

where, you know, local community groups actually 17 

have ---. 18 

  MR. COY: 19 

  I think in Philadelphia, there's one at 20 

the end archway.   21 

  MR. MARSHALL: 22 

  There's a couple there, but there's one 23 

at the stadium that you talked about.  Can I interrupt 24 

you for one second? 25 
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  MR. COY: 1 

  Sure.  2 

  MR. MARSHALL: 3 

  How do you decide who's going to be on 4 

that Board? 5 

  MR. CARLIN: 6 

  Well, that's a good question.  I mean, 7 

you know, we've met with a lot of the local community 8 

groups that are, you know, close by the facility.  And 9 

I think that that's certainly a good place to start is 10 

those groups, you know, the areas that are really 11 

close to the casino.   12 

  MR. COY: 13 

  How about other public officials? 14 

  MR. CARLIN: 15 

  I'm sorry, on the Board or ---? 16 

  MR. COY: 17 

  I mean, would you talk with them about 18 

it?  Would you consider their advice? 19 

  MR. CARLIN: 20 

  Sure.  21 

  MR. COY: 22 

  Would you require their participation? 23 

  MR. CARLIN: 24 

  Require it as far as being on the Board 25 
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or ---?  Well, you know, we've certainly reached out. 1 

We've met with Councilman DiCicco and other local 2 

officials and you know, we're going to continue to do 3 

that.   4 

  MR. COY: 5 

  I think since we had the --- try to keep 6 

our dates straight here.  But I think since we had our 7 

initial hearings with you all in Philadelphia, the 8 

City has enacted a no smoking ban in public places.  I 9 

know there's a carve out.  But has that changed your 10 

idea of how you would address the smoking in 11 

Philadelphia at your facility?  Or tell us about your 12 

plans in that regard. 13 

  MR. BLUHM: 14 

  Well, a smoking ban would be a major 15 

impact on Philadelphia casinos.  We have lived through 16 

such a situation in Niagara Falls.  A lot of people 17 

who go to casinos like to smoke and if they have other 18 

options of places to go to if there's a smoking ban, 19 

it will negatively impact the revenue of the casino.  20 

So from an economic point of view, it is a serious 21 

question.   22 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 23 

  I think the Cities do decide that now. 24 

  MR. COY: 25 
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  Would it be ---? 1 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 2 

  Which is raising --- I presume --- to 3 

answer his question.  I mean, coming back a little 4 

bit, have you talked to the City of Philadelphia about 5 

this at all or is --- I mean, we’ll probably ask that 6 

of each applicant.  Maybe it’s not ripe yet.   7 

  MR. BLUHM: 8 

  Well, I think they know of our concerns.  9 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 10 

  Okay.  11 

  MR. BLUHM: 12 

  But I want to answer your question, --- 13 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 14 

  Please. 15 

  MR. BLUHM: 16 

  --- about if it should happen, a couple 17 

of ways.  We have --- in Niagara Falls, we have done 18 

everything we could to have outside areas where people 19 

could go and smoke.  We started out with having a 20 

nonsmoking area, which we would do here.  But if 21 

there's some law that's enacted, you know, we have 22 

plans in effect to try to minimize the impact.  We 23 

also put together these conservative assumptions that 24 

we did to say to ourselves, look, we expect to do 25 
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better, but I want to finance this based upon numbers 1 

that are actually less than your consultants, because 2 

if there should be no smoking, we've got to have some 3 

margin of error.  So we're cognizant.  We've dealt 4 

with that issue, but it would be very unfair we feel 5 

if you had a nonsmoking situation in Philadelphia and 6 

not in the suburbs with some of the racetracks and 7 

certainly you have none in New Jersey, so customers 8 

would not go to Philadelphia.  They would go to New 9 

Jersey or somewhere else, so we will do our best to 10 

try to encourage that there be an exemption for 11 

casinos in Philadelphia.   12 

  MR. COY: 13 

  Do you think that a local restaurant or 14 

tavern or bar owner in Philadelphia who has such a 15 

preclusion would feel that it would be unfair to allow 16 

smoking in another restaurant or tavern that might 17 

just happen to be located in a casino? 18 

  MR. BLUHM: 19 

  Well, in reality, the Commonwealth is our 20 

partner.  They get 50 percent of the revenue from this 21 

operation; okay?  So I would think our partner would 22 

recognize that you'll be driving people to New Jersey 23 

if you prohibit smoking.  I am not trying to discuss 24 

the merits or not of smoking.  I'm really discussing 25 
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economics.  And you are our partner, you get 50 1 

percent of the gross and it's going to cost some money 2 

if you have no smoking here.   3 

  MR. COY: 4 

  Yeah, I understand the relationship.  I'm 5 

trying to deal with the reality of the situation that 6 

we're going to have to deal with this together.  And 7 

that's why I'm trying to quiz you about what is 8 

possible and what isn't possible with regard to your 9 

plans.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  10 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 11 

  Sandy? 12 

  MR. RIVERS: 13 

  You mentioned earlier that --- on your 14 

slide ingredients for success, that having a --- not 15 

having a facility in Atlantic City was a positive.  16 

Can you talk to us about why you think that's a 17 

positive?  Because I'm sure we're going to hear that 18 

that's a negative not having a facility in Atlantic 19 

City.   20 

  MR. BLUHM: 21 

  Well, let me be very specific about that.  22 

  MR. RIVERS: 23 

  Please. 24 

  MR. BLUHM: 25 
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  Okay.  As an economic matter, when you 1 

are running a casino in New Jersey, in Atlantic City, 2 

the tax rate is such that when a customer comes in and 3 

loses $100, you keep approximately $90 of that $100.  4 

Okay.  When that same customers loses $100 in 5 

Philadelphia or anywhere in Pennsylvania, you keep 6 

$50.  If you have a list of customers, all right, and 7 

you want to decide where you're going to get people 8 

incentives or where you want to encourage them to 9 

gamble, okay, or where you're going to give them free 10 

things, okay, it's in --- not in your economic 11 

interest to send that customer to Philadelphia.  It's 12 

in your economic interest to keep that customer or 13 

send them to New Jersey.  We have nothing in New 14 

Jersey.  So all we're going to do is compete and fight 15 

the best we can with New Jersey.  And I think it's a 16 

very significant point.  It's pure economics 101.  And 17 

the difference is massive between --- we're talking 18 

about your gross win in your pocket being $90 in New 19 

Jersey and $50 here before we pay our expenses.  It's 20 

a huge difference.  21 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 22 

  Thank you.  Just for the record, I don't 23 

believe that we have authority over whether a city 24 

decides whether they can --- they're going to cause 25 
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you not to allow smoking inside a casino, either 1 

Pittsburgh, Philadelphia or I think any other place.  2 

So I just make that aware ---.  Even though we are 3 

your partner to a great degree, I'm not sure we can 4 

--- we may have the same interest as you, but I'm not 5 

so sure we can do much about it. 6 

  MR. BLUHM: 7 

  Right.  We're aware of that. 8 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 9 

  That's why I asked if you had --- if 10 

you’ve had conversations on that point, because it 11 

could affect your income for a time.  Although, in 12 

Delaware, it seems to have reversed itself a bit, if 13 

I'm correct.  At least that's what we were told.  I 14 

have a question on traffic, very brief.  Who is paying 15 

for the improvements in traffic?  Have you had 16 

discussions of that with the City or with ---? 17 

  MR. CARLIN: 18 

  We've actually identified a bunch of 19 

traffic mitigation experts.  20 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 21 

  Right.   22 

  MR. CARLIN: 23 

  I believe the budget's around $4 million 24 

and that is currently included in our project budget 25 
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of $550 million. 1 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 2 

  Our experts agree with what your plan is 3 

with some --- you know, some additions for you to take 4 

a look at, as we talked about earlier.  But I just 5 

wanted to see who was paying for it.  6 

  MR. CARLIN: 7 

  Yeah, we've got it in our budget now. 8 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 9 

  Okay.  Great.  Terrific.  That's part of 10 

the $550 million? 11 

  MR. CARLIN: 12 

  Correct. 13 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 14 

  Very good.  Any other questions for the  15 

Applicants?  All right.  Ann? 16 

  MS. NEEB: 17 

  There are some issues that we wanted 18 

to ---. 19 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 20 

  Well, let me make a suggestion.  Why 21 

don't we go into executive session --- 22 

  MS. NEEB: 23 

  Okay.  24 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 25 
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  --- to discuss those issues if we can?  1 

And then we may call --- we'll come out again or we 2 

may call you into the executive session.   3 

  MS. NEEB: 4 

  Okay.  5 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 6 

  Okay? 7 

  MS. NEEB: 8 

  That sounds good.  Thank you. 9 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 10 

  Thank you.  All right.   11 

WHEREUPON THE BOARD MET IN EXECUTIVE SESSION 12 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 13 

  We're back on the record.  Is Anne here? 14 

  MS. NEEB: 15 

  Yeah. 16 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 17 

  Okay.  We're back from executive session. 18 

Okay.  Anne?  Just me let me make sure I explain what 19 

happened.  If I can find it.  While today's hearing  20 

--- I should have read this in the record before.  21 

While today's hearing is being conducted in public, 22 

and it is our desire to have the hearing conducted in 23 

that matter.  Situations arise which require the Board 24 

to hear evidence in closed session, much as a Court 25 
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might conduct a partial hearing, a closed hearing, for 1 

taking information which involves either information 2 

of a highly private nature, which involves a security 3 

or highly sensitive proprietary business model 4 

information, which the law recognizes as private or 5 

privileged.   6 

  In this case, we just had an executive 7 

session along those lines.  I'm going to --- we're 8 

returning and I want to turn it over to Anne so we can 9 

finish the hearing.  Anne? 10 

  MS. NEEB: 11 

  Thank you.  We don't have any additional 12 

witnesses.  However, at the beginning of the hearing, 13 

prior to the hearing, there were two documents which 14 

were introduced, which were not part of the original 15 

stipulated to printed record that you all had a copy 16 

of.  One was a Petition to Withdraw a Key Employee 17 

Qualifier and the other one was a statement pertaining 18 

to their trusts.  I'm sorry.  And we have no objection 19 

to those documents being introduced.  And I would ask 20 

that the Docket Clerk mark those sequentially to be in 21 

order, Number 10 and Number 11.   22 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 23 

  I want to remind everyone, the Applicant 24 

for sure, that all the documents you submitted, the 25 
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other exhibits, will be held in confidence to the 1 

extent that they involve proprietary and --- 2 

proprietary business information.  Okay.   3 

  MS. NEEB: 4 

  Thank you.  I have no further --- 5 

anything further. 6 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 7 

  Do we need a motion for that? 8 

  MS. NEEB: 9 

  Yes.  10 

  MR. MARSHALL: 11 

  I move. 12 

  MR. MCCABE: 13 

  Second. 14 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 15 

  Okay.  All in favor? 16 

ALL SAY AYE 17 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 18 

  Any opposed?  The motion carries.  19 

  MS. NEEB: 20 

  Thank you.  We have no other exhibits.  21 

At this time, I turn it over to our director of 22 

license, Susan Hensel, to give her conclusions as to 23 

the ---. 24 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 25 
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  Let's start with Michael --- Denyse 1 

first, doing financial viability and suitability.  2 

Okay.  3 

  MS. MISKIN: 4 

  Okay.  At this time, and based on the 5 

information contained in the Application and the 6 

financial suitability analysis performed, the 7 

financial suitability taskforce is not aware of any 8 

material financial suitability issues that would 9 

preclude licensure of HSP Gaming as a Category 2 slots 10 

operator. 11 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 12 

  Thank you.  Michael Schwoyer? 13 

  MR. SCHWOYER: 14 

  Mr. Chairman, there's a Withdrawal 15 

Petition pending and a Consent Agreement, discussions 16 

going along with the Applicant, both of which I expect 17 

to be presented to the Board at tomorrow's meeting.   18 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 19 

  Uh-huh (yes). 20 

  MR. SCHWOYER: 21 

  And those two issues are resolved.  Based 22 

on --- upon my review of the background investigation 23 

conducted by the Bureau of Investigations and 24 

Enforcement, I'm not aware of any issue that would 25 
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preclude licensure of HSP Gaming, LP for a Category 2 1 

slot machine license. 2 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 3 

  Thank you.  Susan? 4 

  MS. HENSEL: 5 

  Based on the resolutions that Mike 6 

Schwoyer just spoke of and based on the materials and 7 

information in the application and the cooperation 8 

received from the Applicant, the Bureau of Licensing 9 

is not aware of any issues that would preclude 10 

licensure of HSP Gaming, LP as a Category 2 slots 11 

operator.  12 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 13 

  Well thank you.  Does the Applicant have 14 

anything else to add to the record?  15 

  MR. KEATING: 16 

  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  Just some 17 

housekeeping matters.  Also not moved, I think, were 18 

four documents, 44119J memorandum, first amendment to 19 

that, response to Riverwalk's comparative submission 20 

and response to Keystone Redevelopment comparative 21 

decision.  And then finally, the PowerPoint and items 22 

that we presented today.  So in addition to those 23 

matters that were referenced by Ms. Neeb and Mr. 24 

Schwoyer, I would move those items.  25 
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  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 1 

  Okay.   2 

  MR. MARSHALL: 3 

  We have no objection --- 4 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 5 

  No objection?  Moved so.  6 

  MR. MARSHALL: 7 

  --- to move into evidence.  8 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 9 

  Okay.  Thank you.  Is there a second, 10 

please? 11 

  MR. RIVERS: 12 

  Second. 13 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 14 

  All those in favor? 15 

ALL SAY AYE 16 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 17 

  Any opposed?  The motion carries.  18 

Anything else to be brought before the ---? 19 

  MR. KEATING: 20 

  No. 21 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 22 

  Okay.   23 

  MR. KEATING: 24 

  We thank you very much. 25 
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  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 1 

  Thank you.  Staff?  If I may have a 2 

motion to adjourn? 3 

  MR. RIVERS: 4 

  So moved.  5 

  MR. MCCABE: 6 

  Second. 7 

  MR. MARSHALL: 8 

  All those in favor? 9 

ALL SAY AYE 10 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 11 

  We're adjourned.  Thank you very much.  12 

Excuse me, the record stays open until ---? 13 

  MS. NEEB: 14 

  The record will stay open until the Board 15 

takes an action on the petitions that were filed and 16 

then the record will be sealed. 17 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 18 

  Okay.  That's great.  Thank you very 19 

much.  The hearing's now adjourned.   20 

* * * * * 21 

CONCLUDED AT 4:25 P.M. 22 

* * * * * 23 

 24 
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